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OPEN TEXT CORPORATION

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share data)

March 31,
2010

June 30,
2009

(unaudited)
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 321,328 $ 275,819
Accounts receivable trade, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $5,207 as of

March 31, 2010 and $4,208 as of June 30, 2009 (note 3) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 122,557 115,802
Income taxes recoverable (note 12) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24,998 4,496
Prepaid expenses and other current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21,156 18,172
Deferred tax assets (note 12) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16,765 20,621

Total current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 506,804 434,910
Investments in marketable securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 13,103
Capital assets (note 4) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 54,835 45,165
Goodwill (note 5) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 699,833 576,111
Acquired intangible assets (note 6) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 334,770 315,048
Deferred tax assets (note 12) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 64,472 69,877
Other assets (note 7) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17,760 13,064
Long-term income taxes recoverable (note 12) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 46,007 39,958

Total assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,724,481 $1,507,236

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 8) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 114,419 $ 116,992
Current portion of long-term debt (note 10) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,782 3,449
Deferred revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 212,655 189,397
Income taxes payable (note 12) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13,083 10,356
Deferred tax liabilities (note 12) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,354 508

Total current liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 358,293 320,702
Long-term liabilities:

Accrued liabilities (note 8) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16,682 21,099
Pension liability (note 9) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,363 15,803
Long-term debt (note 10) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 285,774 299,234
Deferred revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11,151 7,914
Long-term income taxes payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 55,740 47,131
Deferred tax liabilities (note 12) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 118,961 108,889

Total long-term liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 503,671 500,070
Shareholders’ equity:

Share capital (note 11)
56,600,540 and 52,716,751 Common Shares issued and outstanding at March 31,

2010 and June 30, 2009, respectively; Authorized Common Shares:
unlimited . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 593,397 457,982

Additional paid-in capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 58,623 52,152
Accumulated other comprehensive income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 69,973 71,851
Retained earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 140,524 104,479

Total shareholders’ equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 862,517 686,464

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,724,481 $1,507,236

Guarantees and contingencies (note 15)
Related party transactions (note 18)

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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OPEN TEXT CORPORATION

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except per share data)

(Unaudited)

Three months ended
March 31,

Nine months ended
March 31,

2010 2009 2010 2009

Revenues:
License . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 49,527 $ 51,919 $169,547 $166,845
Customer support . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 124,443 101,949 378,375 300,816
Service and other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 38,807 38,167 124,067 114,648

Total revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 212,777 192,035 671,989 582,309

Cost of revenues:
License . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,744 4,496 11,522 12,670
Customer support . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,777 17,304 63,209 50,227
Service and other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31,314 30,288 101,036 89,898
Amortization of acquired technology-based intangible assets . . . . 15,044 11,625 44,338 34,171

Total cost of revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 70,879 63,713 220,105 186,966

Gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 141,898 128,322 451,884 395,343

Operating expenses:
Research and development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31,654 28,809 97,543 87,335
Sales and marketing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 45,983 44,426 150,564 138,605
General and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18,405 17,937 62,007 54,604
Depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,437 3,229 12,982 8,847
Amortization of acquired customer-based intangible assets . . . . . . 8,910 11,176 26,562 29,529
Special charges (note 13) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,083 1,788 35,095 13,234

Total operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 115,472 107,365 384,753 332,154

Income from operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 26,426 20,957 67,131 63,189

Other income (expense), net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,554) 11,655 (3,785) (199)
Interest expense, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,625) (2,431) (8,387) (10,772)

Income before income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18,247 30,181 54,959 52,218
Provision for income taxes (note 12) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,133 8,146 18,914 14,761

Net income for the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 13,114 $ 22,035 $ 36,045 $ 37,457

Net income per share—basic (note 17) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.23 $ 0.42 $ 0.64 $ 0.72

Net income per share—diluted (note 17) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.23 $ 0.41 $ 0.63 $ 0.71

Weighted average number of Common Shares outstanding—basic . . . . 56,537 52,312 56,106 51,825

Weighted average number of Common Shares outstanding—diluted . . 57,696 53,441 57,214 53,122

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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OPEN TEXT CORPORATION

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF RETAINED EARNINGS
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

(Unaudited)

Three months ended
March 31,

Nine months ended
March 31,

2010 2009 2010 2009

Retained earnings, beginning of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $127,410 $62,963 $104,479 $47,541
Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13,114 22,035 36,045 37,457

Retained earnings, end of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $140,524 $84,998 $140,524 $84,998

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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OPEN TEXT CORPORATION

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

(Unaudited)

Nine months ended
March 31,

2010 2009

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income for the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 36,045 $ 37,457
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 83,882 72,547
In-process research and development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 121
Share-based compensation expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,154 3,957
Excess tax benefits on share-based compensation expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (904) (8,382)
Pension expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 562 1,124
Amortization of debt issuance costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,064 831
Unrealized gain on financial instruments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (878) (134)
Loss on sale and write down of capital assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 136 353
Release of unrealized gain on marketable securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,353) —
Deferred taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,714) (3,577)
Impairment charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 830 —

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23,953 47,897
Prepaid expenses and other current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,306) (3,745)
Income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (18,238) 9,656
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (11,466) (18,730)
Deferred revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,029) (1,304)
Other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,233 (528)

Net cash provided by operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 114,971 137,543
Cash flows from investing activities:

Additions of capital assets-net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (15,269) (6,308)
Purchase of Vignette Corporation, net of cash acquired . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (90,600) —
Purchase of Captaris Inc., net of cash acquired . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (101,033)
Purchase of eMotion LLC, net of cash acquired . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (556) (3,635)
Purchase of a division of Spicer Corporation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (11,437)
Purchase consideration for prior period acquisitions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (11,407) (17,190)
Investments in marketable securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (8,930)
Maturity of short-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 45,525 —

Net cash used in investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (72,307) (148,533)
Cash flow from financing activities:

Excess tax benefits on share-based compensation expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 904 8,382
Proceeds from issuance of Common Shares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,937 17,674
Repayment of long-term debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,607) (2,570)
Debt issuance costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,024) —

Net cash provided by financing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,210 23,486
Foreign exchange loss on cash held in foreign currencies . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,365) (30,364)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents during the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 45,509 (17,868)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 275,819 254,916

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $321,328 $ 237,048

Supplementary cash flow disclosures (note 16)

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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OPEN TEXT CORPORATION

UNAUDITED NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Three and Nine Months Ended March 31, 2010
(Tabular amounts in thousands, except per share data)

NOTE 1—BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements (consolidated financial
statements) include the accounts of Open Text Corporation and our wholly owned subsidiaries, collectively
referred to as “Open Text” or the “Company”. All inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated.

These consolidated financial statements are expressed in U.S. dollars and are prepared in accordance with
United States generally accepted accounting principles (U.S. GAAP). These financial statements are based upon
accounting policies and the methods of their application are consistent with those used and described in our
annual consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009. The consolidated financial
statements do not include certain financial statement disclosures included in the annual consolidated financial
statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and therefore should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements and notes included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2009.

The information furnished reflects all adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of the results for the
periods presented and includes the financial results of Vignette Corporation (Vignette), with effect from July 22,
2009 (see Note 14). The operating results for the three and nine months ended March 31, 2010 are not necessarily
indicative of the results expected for any succeeding quarter or the entire fiscal year ending June 30, 2010.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires us to make estimates,
judgments and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements. These
estimates, judgments and assumptions are evaluated on an ongoing basis. We base our estimates on historical
experience and on various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable at that time, the results of which
form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from those estimates. In particular, significant estimates,
judgments and assumptions include those related to: (i) revenue recognition, (ii) allowance for doubtful accounts,
(iii) testing goodwill for impairment, (iv) the valuation of acquired intangible assets, (v) the valuation of long-
lived assets, (vi) the recognition of contingencies, (vii) restructuring accruals, (viii) acquisition accruals and
pre-acquisition contingencies, (ix) asset retirement obligations, (x) realization of investment tax credits, (xi) the
valuation of stock options granted and liabilities related to share-based payments, including the valuation of our
long-term incentive plan, (xii) the valuation of financial instruments, (xiii) the valuation of pension assets and
obligations, and (xiv) accounting for income taxes.
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Comprehensive income (loss)

The following table sets forth the components of comprehensive income (loss) for the reporting periods
indicated:

Three months ended
March 31,

Nine months ended
March 31,

2010 2009 2010 2009

Net income for the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 13,114 $ 22,035 $36,045 $ 37,457
Other comprehensive income (loss)—net of tax, where applicable:

Foreign currency translation adjustments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (12,766) (27,398) 3,779 (81,622)
Unrealized gain (loss) on short-term investments * . . . . . . . . . . (3) — (37) —
Unrealized loss on investment in marketable securities . . . . . . . — (1,456) — (2,274)
Release of unrealized gain on marketable securities to

income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (4,353) —
Unrealized (loss) on cash flow hedges ** . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (1,120) (1,062) (1,120)
Actuarial gain (loss) relating to defined benefit pension

plans . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5) 32 (205) 82

Comprehensive income (loss) for the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 340 $ (7,907) $34,167 $(47,477)

* As of March 31, 2010 we have settled all of our short term investments, which previously consisted of
certain marketable investments in U.S government agencies.

** As of March 31, 2010 we have settled all foreign currency forward contracts, including those which were
designated as cash flow hedges of forecasted transactions under Accounting Standards Codification (ASC)
Topic 815 “Derivatives and Hedging”, and those which were acquired as part of our acquisition of Vignette.
The notional amount of the forward contracts, designated as cash flow hedges, as of June 30, 2009 was
$44.0 million. The notional amount of the forward contract which we acquired as part of our acquisition of
Vignette, as of July 22, 2009, (the date of acquisition) was $1.2 million.

NOTE 2—NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS AND ACCOUNTING POLICY UPDATES

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Revenue Recognition Updates

In October 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update
2009-13, “Revenue Recognition (Topic 605): Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements” (ASU 2009-13).
ASU 2009-13 applies to multiple-deliverable revenue arrangements that are currently within the scope of FASB
ASC Subtopic 605-25 (previously included in Emerging Issues Task Force Issue no. 00-21, “Revenue
Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables”). ASU 2009-13 provides principles and application guidance on
whether multiple deliverables exist, how the arrangement should be separated, and the consideration allocated. It
also requires an entity to allocate revenue in an arrangement using estimated selling prices of deliverables if a
vendor does not have vendor-specific objective evidence or third-party evidence of selling price. The guidance
eliminates the use of the residual method, requires entities to allocate revenue using the relative-selling-price
method, and significantly expands the disclosure requirements for multiple-deliverable revenue arrangements.
Additionally, in October 2009 the FASB also issued Accounting Standards Update 2009-14 (Topic 985):
“Certain Revenue Arrangements that Include Software Arrangements” (ASU 2009-14). ASU 2009-14
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focuses on determining which arrangements are within the scope of the software revenue guidance in ASC Topic
985 (previously included in AICPA Statement of Position no. 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition) and those
that are not. ASU 2009-14 removes tangible products from the scope of the software revenue guidance if the
products contain both software and non-software components that function together to deliver a product’s
essential functionality and provides guidance on determining whether software deliverables in an arrangement
that includes a tangible product are within the scope of the software revenue guidance. Both of these updates are
effective on a prospective basis for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified in fiscal years
beginning on or after June 15, 2010. We are currently assessing the impact of these updates on our future
consolidated financial statements.

Measuring Liabilities at Fair Value

In August 2009, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2009-05, “Fair Value Measurements and
Disclosures (Topic 820)—Measuring Liabilities at Fair Value” (ASU 2009-05). ASU 2009-05 provides
clarification that in circumstances in which a quoted price in an active market for the identical liability is not
available, a reporting entity is required to measure fair value of such liability using one or more of the techniques
prescribed by the update. We adopted ASU 2009-05 in our first quarter of Fiscal 2010 and its adoption did not
have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In January 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2010-06, “Fair Value Measurements
and Disclosures (Topic 820): Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements” (ASU 2010-06). ASU
2010-06 includes certain additional disclosures about the different classes of assets and liabilities measured at
fair value.

ASU 2010-06 is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2009
except for the disclosures about purchases, sales, issuances and settlements in the roll forward of activity in Level
3 fair value measurements. We adopted this new accounting standards update in our third quarter of Fiscal 2010
and the adoption thereof did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Business Combinations

On July 1, 2009, we adopted the requirements of FASB ASC Topic 805 “Business Combinations” (ASC
Topic 805). Our acquisition of Vignette was accounted for in accordance with this new business combination
standard (see Notes 5 and 14).

Accounting Standards Codification

In June 2009, the FASB issued Statement No. 168 “The FASB Accounting Standards Codification and the
Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, a replacement of FASB Statement No. 162” (the
Codification). The Codification has become the single source of authoritative non-government U.S generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP), superseding various existing authoritative accounting pronouncements.
The Codification eliminates the GAAP hierarchy contained in Statement No. 162 and establishes one level of
authoritative GAAP. All other U.S. GAAP literature is considered non-authoritative. This Codification is
effective for financial statements issued for interim and annual periods ending after September 15, 2009. We
adopted the Codification in our first quarter of Fiscal 2010. There was no change to our consolidated financial
statements due to the implementation of the Codification other than changes in reference to various authoritative
accounting pronouncements in our Notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTE 3—ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS

Balance of allowance for doubtful accounts as of June 30, 2009 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 4,208
Bad debt expense for the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,616
Write-offs /adjustments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,617)

Balance of allowance for doubtful accounts as of March 31, 2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5,207

NOTE 4—CAPITAL ASSETS

As of March 31, 2010

Cost
Accumulated
Depreciation Net

Furniture and fixtures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 14,261 $ 9,665 $ 4,596
Office equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,027 5,981 1,046
Computer hardware . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 89,957 75,078 14,879
Computer software . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32,528 24,878 7,650
Leasehold improvements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24,077 13,820 10,257
Land and buildings* . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18,457 2,050 16,407

$186,307 $131,472 $54,835

As of June 30, 2009

Cost
Accumulated
Depreciation Net

Furniture and fixtures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 11,472 $ 7,677 $ 3,795
Office equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,696 7,674 1,022
Computer hardware . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 77,813 66,118 11,695
Computer software . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28,094 20,679 7,415
Leasehold improvements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19,662 13,074 6,588
Land and buildings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16,163 1,513 14,650

$161,900 $116,735 $45,165

* Included in the cost of the building is an amount which relates to the Company’s construction of a new
building in Waterloo, Ontario, Canada. Additions to the building amounted to $0.2 million during the three
months ended March 31, 2010. Construction of the building is in progress and therefore depreciation has not
yet commenced.
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NOTE 5—GOODWILL

Goodwill is recorded when the consideration paid for an acquisition of a business exceeds the fair value of
identifiable net tangible and intangible assets. The following table summarizes the changes in goodwill since
June 30, 2009:

Balance, June 30, 2009 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $576,111
Acquisition of Vignette Corporation (note 14) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 132,524
Adjustments relating to prior acquisitions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (793)
Adjustments on account of foreign exchange . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (8,009)

Balance, March 31, 2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $699,833

NOTE 6—ACQUIRED INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Technology
Assets

Customer
Assets Total

Net book value, June 30, 2009 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $173,547 $141,501 $315,048
Acquisition of Vignette Corporation (note 14) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 68,200 22,700 90,900
Amortization expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (44,338) (26,562) (70,900)
Foreign exchange and other impacts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 406 (684) (278)

Net book value, March 31, 2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $197,815 $136,955 $334,770

The range of amortization periods for intangible assets is from 4-10 years.

The following table shows the estimated future amortization expense for the fiscal years indicated below.
This calculation assumes no future adjustments to acquired intangible assets:

Fiscal years ending
June 30,

2010 (three months ended June 30) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 23,652
2011 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 93,149
2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 90,753
2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 88,046
2014 and beyond . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 39,170

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $334,770

NOTE 7—OTHER ASSETS

As of March 31,
2010

As of June 30,
2009

Debt issuance costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 4,692 $ 4,728
Deposits and restricted cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,972 4,615
Long-term prepaid expenses and other long-term assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,844 3,130
Pension assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 252 591

$17,760 $13,064
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Debt issuance costs relate primarily to costs incurred for the purpose of obtaining long-term debt used to
partially finance the Hummingbird acquisition and are being amortized over the life of the long-term
debt. Deposits and restricted cash relate to security deposits provided to landlords in accordance with facility
lease agreements and cash restricted per the terms of contractual-based agreements. Long-term prepaid expenses
and other long-term assets primarily relate to certain advance payments on long-term licenses that are being
amortized over the applicable terms of the licenses. Pension assets relate to defined benefit pension plans for
legacy IXOS employees and directors (see Note 9), recognized under ASC Topic 715 “Compensation—
Retirement Benefits”.

NOTE 8—ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are comprised of the following:

As of March 31,
2010

As of June 30,
2009

Accounts payable—trade . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 10,745 $ 15,465
Accrued salaries and commissions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 34,101 31,973
Accrued liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 49,430 49,527
Amounts payable in respect of restructuring (note 13) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11,299 5,061
Amounts payable in respect of acquisitions and acquisition related accruals . . . . . . 5,647 12,992
Asset retirement obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,197 1,974

$114,419 $116,992

Long-term accrued liabilities

As of March 31,
2010

As of June 30,
2009

Amounts payable in respect of restructuring (note 13) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 756 $ 849
Amounts payable in respect of acquisitions and acquisition related accruals . . . . . . 2,979 7,128
Other accrued liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,682 7,936
Asset retirement obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,265 5,186

$16,682 $21,099

Asset retirement obligations

We are required to return certain of our leased facilities to their original state at the conclusion of our lease.
We have accounted for such obligations in accordance with ASC Topic 410 “Asset Retirement and
Environmental Obligations”. As of March 31, 2010 the present value of this obligation was $7.5 million
(June 30, 2009 – $7.2 million), with an undiscounted value of $9.6 million (June 30, 2009 – $8.7 million).

Accruals relating to acquisitions

In relation to our acquisitions made before July 1, 2009, the date on which we adopted ASC Topic 805, we
have accrued for costs relating to legacy workforce reductions and abandonment of excess legacy facilities. Such
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accruals were capitalized as part of the cost of the subject acquisition and in the case of abandoned facilities,
have been recorded at present value less our best estimate for future sub-lease income and costs incurred to
achieve sub-tenancy. The accrual for workforce reductions is extinguished against the payments made to the
employees and in the case of excess facilities, will be discharged over the term of the respective leases. Any
excess of the difference between the present value and actual cash paid for the abandoned facility will be charged
to income and any deficits will be reversed to goodwill. The provisions for abandoned facilities are expected to
be paid by February 2015.

The following table summarizes the activity with respect to our acquisition accruals during the nine months
ended March 31, 2010.

Balance
June 30,

2009
Initial

Accruals

Usage/
Foreign

Exchange/
Other

Adjustments

Subsequent
Adjustments
to Goodwill

Balance
March 31,

2010

Captaris
Employee termination costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 4,916 $— $ (4,227) $(457) $ 232
Excess facilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,123 — (2,066) 147 4,204
Transaction-related costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (49) 49 —

11,039 — (6,342) (261) 4,436
Hummingbird

Employee termination costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25 — (25) — —
Excess facilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,463 — (936) (235) 292
Transaction-related costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — —

1,488 — (961) (235) 292
IXOS

Employee termination costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — —
Excess facilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,483 — (3,460) (196) 3,827
Transaction-related costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — —

7,483 — (3,460) (196) 3,827
Centrinity

Employee termination costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — —
Excess facilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 110 — (39) — 71
Transaction-related costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — —

110 — (39) — 71
Totals

Employee termination costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,941 — (4,252) (457) 232
Excess facilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,179 — (6,501) (284) 8,394
Transaction-related costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (49) 49 —

$20,120 $— $(10,802) $(692) $8,626

The adjustments to goodwill primarily relate to adjustments to amounts accrued for employee termination
costs and excess facilities accounted for in accordance with EITF 95-3. The goodwill adjustments relating to
amounts accrued for transaction costs are accounted for in accordance with SFAS 141, as they relate to
acquisitions consummated prior to the adoption of ASC Topic 805 (on July 1, 2009).
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NOTE 9—PENSION PLANS AND OTHER POST RETIREMENT BENEFITS

CDT Defined Benefit Plan and CDT Long-term Employee Benefit Obligations:

On November 1, 2008, the following unfunded defined benefit pension plan and long-term employee benefit
obligations were acquired, relating to legacy Captaris employees of a wholly owned subsidiary of Captaris called
Captaris Document Technologies GmbH (CDT). As of March 31, 2010 and June 30, 2009, the balances relating
to these obligations were as follows:

Total benefit
obligation

Current portion of
benefit

obligation*
Noncurrent portion of

benefit obligation

CDT defined benefit plan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $14,819 $435 $14,384
CDT Anniversary plan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 730 183 547
CDT early retirement plan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 432 — 432

Total as of March 31, 2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $15,981 $618 $15,363

Total benefit
obligation

Current portion of
benefit

obligation*
Noncurrent portion of

benefit obligation

CDT defined benefit plan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $14,828 $362 $14,466
CDT Anniversary plan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 960 214 746
CDT early retirement plan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 591 — 591

Total as of June 30, 2009 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $16,379 $576 $15,803

* The current portion of the benefit obligation has been included within Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
within the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

CDT Defined Benefit Plan

CDT sponsors an unfunded defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all CDT employees (CDT
pension plan) which provides for old age, disability and survivors’ benefits. Benefits under the CDT pension plan
are generally based on age at retirement, years of service and the employee’s annual earnings. The net periodic
cost of this pension plan is determined using the projected unit credit method and several actuarial assumptions,
the most significant of which are the discount rate and estimated service costs.

The following are the components of net periodic benefit costs for the CDT pension plan and the details of
the change in the benefit obligation for the periods indicated:

As of March 31,
2010

As of June 30,
2009

Benefit obligation–beginning . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $14,828* $13,489**
Service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 312 349
Interest cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 668 585
Benefits paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (252) (134)
Curtailment (gain)/ loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 94 (271)
Actuarial gain . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (95) (734)
Foreign exchange . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (736) 1,544

Benefit obligation–ending . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,819 14,828
Less: current portion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (435) (362)

Noncurrent portion of benefit obligation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $14,384 $14,466
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* Benefit obligation as of June 30, 2009.
** Benefit obligation as of November 1, 2008 (date of acquisition).

The following are the details of net pension expense for the CDT pension plan for the following periods
indicated:

Three months ended
March 31, 2010

Nine months ended
March 31, 2010

Pension expense:
Service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 99 $312
Interest cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 212 668

Net pension expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $311 $980

Three months ended
March 31, 2009

Nine months ended
March 31, 2009

Pension expense:
Service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $125 $224
Interest cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 209 351

Net pension expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $334 $575

The CDT pension plan is an unfunded plan and therefore no contributions have been made since the
inception of the plan.

In determining the fair value of the CDT pension plan as of March 31, 2010 and June 30, 2009, respectively,
we used the following weighted-average key assumptions:

Assumptions:
Salary increases . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.25%
Pension increases . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1.50%
Discount rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6.00%
Employee fluctuation rate:

to age 30 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1.00%
to age 35 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.50%
to age 40 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.00%
to age 45 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.50%
to age 50 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.50%
from age 51 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1.00%

Anticipated pension payments under the CDT pension plan, for the fiscal years indicated below are as
follows:

2010 (three months ended June 30) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 104
2011 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 428
2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 453
2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 505
2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 589
2015 to 2019 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,468

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $6,547
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CDT Long-term Employee Benefit Obligations.

CDT’s long-term employee benefit obligations arise under CDT’s “Anniversary plan” and an early
retirement plan. The obligation is unfunded and carried at a fair value of $0.7 million for the Anniversary plan
and $0.4 million for the early retirement plan, as of March 31, 2010 ($1.0 million and $0.6 million, respectively,
as of June 30, 2009).

The Anniversary plan is a defined benefit plan for long-tenured CDT employees. The plan provides for a
lump-sum payment to employees of two months of salary upon reaching the anniversary of twenty-five years of
service and three months of salary upon reaching the anniversary of forty years of service. The early retirement
plan is designed to create an incentive for employees, within a certain age group, to transition from (full or part-
time) employment into retirement before their legal retirement age. This plan allows employees, upon reaching a
certain age, to elect to work full-time for a period of time and be paid 50% of their full-time salary. After
working within this arrangement for a designated period of time, the employee is eligible to take early retirement
and receive payments from the earned but unpaid salaries until they are eligible to receive payments under the
postretirement benefit plan discussed above. Benefits under the early retirement plan are generally based on the
employee’s compensation and the number of years of service.

IXOS AG Defined Benefit Plans

Included within “Other Assets” are net pension assets of $0.3 million (June 30, 2009 – $0.6 million) relating
to two IXOS defined benefit pensions plans (IXOS pension plans) in connection with certain former members of
the IXOS Board of Directors and certain IXOS employees, respectively (See Note 7). The net periodic pension
cost with respect to the IXOS pension plans is determined using the projected unit credit method and several
actuarial assumptions, the most significant of which are the discount rate and the expected return on plan assets.
The fair value of our total plan assets under the IXOS pension plans, as of March 31, 2010, is $3.6 million (June
30, 2009 – $3.5 million). The fair value of our total pension obligation under the IXOS pension plans as of
March 31, 2010 is $3.3 million (June 30, 2009 – $2.9 million).

NOTE 10—LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt

Long-term debt is comprised of the following:

As of March 31,
2010

As of June 30,
2009

Long-term debt
Term loan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $288,767 $291,012
Mortgage . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,789 11,671

301,556 302,683
Less:
Current portion of long-term debt

Term loan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,993 2,993
Mortgage . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,789 456

15,782 3,449

Long-term portion of long-term debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $285,774 $299,234
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Term loan and Revolver

On October 2, 2006, we entered into a $465.0 million credit agreement (the credit agreement) with a
Canadian chartered bank (the bank) consisting of a $390.0 million term loan facility (the term loan) and a $75.0
million committed revolving long-term credit facility (the revolver). The term loan was used to finance a portion
of our Hummingbird acquisition. We have not drawn down any amounts under the revolver to date.

Term loan

The term loan has a seven year term, expires on October 2, 2013 and bears interest at a floating rate of
LIBOR plus 2.25%. The quarterly scheduled term loan principal repayments are equal to 0.25% of the original
principal amount, due each quarter with the remainder due at the end of the term, less ratable reductions for any
non-scheduled prepayments made. From October 2, 2006 (the inception of the loan) to March 31, 2010, we have
made total non-scheduled prepayments of $90.0 million towards the principal on the term loan. Our current
quarterly scheduled principal payment is approximately $0.7 million.

For the three and nine months ended March 31, 2010, we recorded interest expense of $1.8 million and $5.5
million, respectively, (three and nine months ended March 31, 2009-$2.0 million and $9.2 million, respectively),
relating to the term loan.

Revolver

The revolver has a five year term and expires on October 2, 2011. Borrowings under this facility bear
interest at rates specified in the credit agreement. The revolver is subject to a “stand-by” fee ranging between
0.30% and 0.50% per annum depending on our consolidated leverage ratio. There were no borrowings
outstanding under the revolver as of March 31, 2010.

For the three and nine months ended March 31, 2010, we recorded interest expense of $57,000 and $0.2
million respectively, (three and nine months ended March 31, 2009 – $56,000 and $0.2 million, respectively), on
account of stand-by fees relating to the revolver.

Mortgage

The mortgage consists of a five year mortgage agreement entered into during December 2005 with the bank.
The original principal amount of the mortgage was Canadian $15.0 million. The mortgage: (i) has a fixed term of
five years, (ii) matures on January 1, 2011, and (iii) is secured by a lien on our headquarters in Waterloo,
Ontario. Interest accrues monthly at a fixed rate of 5.25% per annum. Principal and interest are payable in
monthly installments of Canadian $0.1 million with a final lump sum principal payment of Canadian $12.6
million due on maturity. As of March 31, 2010, the carrying value of the mortgage was $12.8 million (June 30,
2009 – $11.7 million).

As of March 31, 2010, the carrying value of the existing Waterloo building was $16.2 million (June 30,
2009 – $14.7 million).

For the three and nine months ended March 31, 2010, we recorded interest expense of $0.2 million and $0.5
million (three and nine months ended March 31, 2009 – $0.1 million and $0.5 million, respectively), relating to
the mortgage.
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NOTE 11—SHARE CAPITAL, OPTION PLANS AND SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Share Capital

Our authorized share capital includes an unlimited number of Common Shares and an unlimited number of
first preference shares. No preference shares have been issued.

We did not repurchase any Common Shares during the three and nine months ended March 31, 2010 and
2009.

Share-Based Payments

Total share-based compensation cost for the periods indicated below is detailed as follows:

Three months ended March 31, Nine months ended March 31,

2010 2009 2010 2009

Stock options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,066 $1,424 $6,268* $3,957
Restricted stock units . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 193 — 811 —
Deferred stock units . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 75 — 75 —

Total share-based compensation expense . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,334 $1,424 $7,154 $3,957

* Inclusive of charges of $3.2 million booked to Special charges (see Note 13).

Summary of Outstanding Stock Options

As of March 31, 2010, options to purchase an aggregate of 2,674,508 Common Shares were outstanding and
1,421,095 Common Shares were available for issuance under our stock option plans. Our stock options generally
vest over four years and expire between seven and ten years from the date of the grant. The exercise price of the
options we grant is set at an amount that is not less than the closing price of our Common Shares on the trading
day for the NASDAQ immediately preceding the applicable grant date.

A summary of option activity under our stock option plans for the nine months ended March 31, 2010 is as
follows:

Options

Weighted-
Average Exercise

Price

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual Term

(years)
Aggregate Intrinsic Value

($’000s)

Outstanding at June 30, 2009 . . . . . . . . 2,828,989 $20.71
Granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 285,500 41.12
Exercised . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (430,444) 18.99
Forfeited or expired . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (9,537) 22.02

Outstanding at March 31, 2010 . . . . . . . 2,674,508 $23.16 3.78 $65,027

Exercisable at March 31, 2010 . . . . . . . 1,632,391 $18.18 2.97 $47,814
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We estimate the fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, consistent with
the provisions of ASC Topic 718 “Compensation—Stock Compensation” (ASC Topic 718) and SEC Staff
Accounting Bulletin No. 107. The option-pricing models require input of subjective assumptions including the
estimated life of the option and the expected volatility of the underlying stock over the estimated life of the
option. We use historical volatility as a basis for projecting the expected volatility of the underlying stock and
estimate the expected life of our stock options based upon historical data.

We believe that the valuation technique and the approach utilized to develop the underlying assumptions are
appropriate in calculating the fair value of our stock option grants. Estimates of fair value are not intended,
however, to predict actual future events or the value ultimately realized by employees who receive equity awards.

For the periods indicated, the following weighted-average fair value of options and weighted-average
assumptions used were as follows:

Three months ended
March 31,

Nine months ended
March 31,

2010 2009 2010 2009

Weighted–average fair value of options granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $14.98 $12.10 $14.11 $12.47

Weighted-average assumptions used:
Expected volatility . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 38% 40% 39% 42%
Risk–free interest rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.0% 1.5% 2.2% 2.9%
Expected dividend yield . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0% 0% 0% 0%
Expected life (in years) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.3 4.3 4.3 4.4
Forfeiture rate (based on historical rates) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5% 5% 5% 5%

As of March 31, 2010, the total compensation cost related to the unvested stock awards not yet recognized
was $8.3 million, which will be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 2 years.

As of March 31, 2009, the total compensation cost related to the unvested stock awards not yet recognized
was $11.3 million, which will be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 2 years.

In each of the above periods, no cash was used by us to settle equity instruments granted under share-based
compensation arrangements.

We have not capitalized any share-based compensation costs as part of the cost of an asset in any of the
periods presented.

For the three and nine months ended March 31, 2010, cash in the amount of $2.5 million and $8.2 million,
respectively, was received as the result of the exercise of options granted under share-based payment
arrangements. The tax benefit realized by us during the three and nine months ended March 31, 2010 from the
exercise of options eligible for a tax deduction was $0.2 million and $0.9 million, respectively, which was
recorded as additional paid-in capital.

For the three and nine months ended March 31, 2009, cash in the amount of $11.4 million and $17.0
million, respectively, was received as the result of the exercise of options granted under share-based payment
arrangements. The tax benefit realized by us during the three and nine months ended March 31, 2009 from the
exercise of options eligible for a tax deduction was $1.7 million and $8.4 million, respectively, which was
recorded as additional paid-in capital.
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Deferred Stock Units (DSUs)

During the three months ended March 31, 2010, we granted 4,167 deferred stock units (DSUs) to certain
nonemployee directors. The DSUs were issued under the Company’s Deferred Share Unit Plan that came into
effect on February 2, 2010. A copy of the DSU Plan has been included as an exhibit to this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q under Item 6 “Exhibits”.

Restricted Stock Awards (RSAs)

On July 21, 2009, we granted, as part of our acquisition of Vignette, 570,548 Open Text RSAs to certain
legacy Vignette employees and directors as replacement for similar restricted stock awards held by these
employees and directors when they were employed by Vignette. These awards were valued at $13.33 per RSA on
July 21, 2009, and a portion has been allocated to the purchase price of Vignette. The remaining portion is
amortized, as part of share-based compensation expense, over the vesting period of these awards.

Long Term Incentive Plans

On September 10, 2007, our Board of Directors approved the implementation of a Long-Term Incentive
Plan called the “Open Text Corporation Long-Term Incentive Plan” (LTIP). Grants made in Fiscal 2008 under
the LTIP (LTIP 1) took effect in Fiscal 2008, starting on July 1, 2007. The LTIP is a rolling three year program
whereby we make a series of annual grants, each of which covers a three year performance period, to certain of
our employees, and which vests upon the employee and/or the Company meeting pre-determined performance
and market-based criteria. Awards under LTIP 1 may be equal to either 100% or 150% of target. The maximum
amount that an employee may receive with regard to any single performance criterion is 1.5 times the target
award for that criterion. Grants made in Fiscal 2009 under the LTIP (LTIP 2) took effect in Fiscal 2009 starting
on July 1, 2008. Awards under LTIP 2 may be equal to 100% of the target. We expect to settle the LTIP 1 and
LTIP 2 awards in cash.

Consistent with the provisions of FASB ASC Topic 718, we have measured the fair value of the liability
under the LTIP as of March 31, 2010 and recorded an expense relating to such liability to compensation cost in
the amount of $5.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2010 and $11.0 million for the nine months
ended March 31, 2010 (three months ended March 31, 2009 - a recovery of $0.4 million. Nine months ended
March 31, 2009 – expense of $2.4 million). The outstanding liability under the LTIP as of March 31, 2010 was
$13.5 million (June 30, 2009 – $6.2 million) and is re-measured based upon the change in the fair value of the
liability, as of the end of every reporting period, and a cumulative adjustment to compensation cost for the
change in fair value is recognized. The cumulative compensation expense recognized upon completion of the
LTIP will be equal to the payouts made.

NOTE 12—INCOME TAXES

Our effective tax rate represents the net effect of the mix of income earned in various tax jurisdictions that
are subject to a wide range of income tax rates.

Upon adoption of FIN 48 we elected to follow an accounting policy to classify interest related to liabilities for
income tax expense under the “Interest income (expense), net” line and penalties related to liabilities for income tax
expense under the “Other income (expense)” line of our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income. For the
three and nine months ended March 31, 2010, we recognized interest in the amount of $0.3 million and $1.5
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million, respectively (three and nine months ended March 31, 2009, $0.3 million and $1.4 million, respectively) and
penalties in the amount of nil and a recovery of $0.2 million, respectively (three and nine months ended March 31,
2009, $0.3 million, and $0.3 million respectively). The amount of interest and penalties accrued as of March 31,
2010 was $6.1 million ($4.1 million as of June 30, 2009) and $9.8 million ($9.4 million as of June 30, 2009),
respectively. Included in these balances as of March 31, 2010, are accrued interest and penalties of $0.5 million and
$0.6 million, respectively, relating to the acquisition of Vignette (see Note 14).

We believe that it is reasonably possible that the gross unrecognized tax benefits, as of March 31, 2010
could increase in the next 12 months by $1.1 million (June 30, 2009, decrease by $0.2 million), relating primarily
to the expiration of competent authority relief and tax years becoming statute barred for purposes of future tax
examinations by local taxing jurisdictions.

Our three most significant tax jurisdictions are Canada, the United States and Germany. Our tax filings
remain subject to examination by applicable tax authorities for a certain length of time following the tax year to
which those filings relate. Tax years that remain open to examinations by local taxing authorities vary by
jurisdiction up to ten years.

We are subject to tax examinations in all major taxing jurisdictions in which we operate and currently have
examinations open in Canada, Germany, the United States, France and Spain. On a quarterly basis we assess the
status of these examinations and the potential for adverse outcomes to determine the adequacy of the provision
for income and other taxes.

We believe that we have adequately provided for any reasonably foreseeable outcomes related to our tax
examinations and that any settlement will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial
position or results of operations. However, we cannot predict with any level of certainty the exact nature of any
future possible settlements.

NOTE 13—SPECIAL CHARGES

Special charges are primarily costs related to certain restructuring initiatives that we have undertaken from
time to time under our various restructuring plans. In addition, with effect from July 1, 2009, Special charges also
include acquisition-related costs with respect to acquisitions made on or after July 1, 2009.

The following tables summarize total Special charges incurred during the three and nine months ended
March 31, 2010.

Three months ended
March 31, 2010

Nine months ended
March 31, 2010

Fiscal 2010 Restructuring Plan (cash liability
portion) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $5,056 $25,678

Fiscal 2010 Restructuring Plan (share-based
compensation expense) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 3,164

Total Fiscal 2010 Restructuring Plan . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,056 28,842
Fiscal 2009 Restructuring Plan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 2,878
Acquisition-related costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 649 2,545
Impairment charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 378 830

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $6,083 $35,095

21



OPEN TEXT CORPORATION

UNAUDITED NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
For the Three and Nine Months Ended March 31, 2010
(Tabular amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Total costs to be incurred in conjunction with the Fiscal 2010 restructuring plan are expected to be
approximately $32 million to $40 million, of which $28.8 million has been recorded within Special charges to
date. Reconciliations of the liability relating to each of our outstanding restructuring plans are provided
hereunder:

Fiscal 2010 Restructuring Plan (cash liability portion)

In the first quarter of Fiscal 2010, our Board approved, and we began to implement, restructuring activities
to streamline our operations and consolidate certain excess facilities (Fiscal 2010 restructuring plan). These
charges relate to workforce reductions and other miscellaneous direct costs. The provision related to workforce
reduction is expected to be paid by December 2010. On a quarterly basis, we will conduct an evaluation of the
remaining balances relating to workforce reduction and revise our assumptions and estimates as appropriate.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending liability for the nine months ended March 31, 2010, is shown
below.

Fiscal 2010 Restructuring Plan
Workforce
reduction Facility costs Total

Balance as of June 30, 2009 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ — $ —
Accruals and adjustments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23,859 1,819 25,678
Cash payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (15,551) (586) (16,137)
Noncash draw-downs and foreign exchange . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 229 63 292

Balance as of March 31, 2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 8,537 $1,296 $ 9,833

Fiscal 2009 Restructuring Plan

In the second quarter of Fiscal 2009, our Board approved, and we began to implement, restructuring
activities to streamline our operations and consolidate certain excess facilities (Fiscal 2009 restructuring plan).
These charges related to workforce reductions, abandonment of excess facilities and other miscellaneous direct
costs, and do not include costs accrued for under EITF 95-3 in relation to our acquisition of Captaris (Note 8).
The total costs to be incurred in conjunction with the Fiscal 2009 restructuring plan are expected to be $17.1
million, which has been recorded within Special charges since the commencement of the plan. The $17.1 million
charge consisted primarily of costs associated with workforce reduction in the amount of $12.4 million and
abandonment of excess facilities in the amount of $4.7 million. The provision related to workforce reduction has
been substantially paid by December 2009 and the provision relating to facility costs is expected to be paid by
April 2012.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending liability for the nine months ended March 31, 2010, is shown
below.

Fiscal 2009 Restructuring Plan
Workforce
reduction Facility costs Total

Balance as of June 30, 2009 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,718 $ 2,933 $ 5,651
Accruals and adjustments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,158 720 2,878
Cash payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,504) (2,052) (6,556)
Noncash draw-downs and foreign exchange . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 48 16 64

Balance as of March 31, 2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 420 $ 1,617 $ 2,037
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Fiscal 2006 Restructuring Plan

In the first quarter of Fiscal 2006, our Board approved, and we began to implement restructuring activities
to streamline our operations and consolidate our excess facilities (Fiscal 2006 restructuring plan). These charges
related to workforce reductions, abandonment of excess facilities and other miscellaneous direct costs. The total
cost incurred in conjunction with the Fiscal 2006 restructuring plan was $20.9 million which has been recorded
within Special charges since the commencement of the plan. The actions related to workforce reduction were
completed as of September 30, 2007. The provisions relating to facility costs are expected to be paid by January
2014.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending liability for the nine months ended March 31, 2010 is shown
below.

Fiscal 2006 Restructuring Plan Facility costs

Balance as of June 30, 2009 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $259
Accruals and adjustments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . —
Cash payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (77)
Noncash draw-downs and foreign exchange . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3

Balance as of March 31, 2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $185

Impairment charges

Included within Special charges for the three and nine months ended March 31, 2010 is a charge of $0.4
million relating to the write down of certain prepaid royalties in connection with the discontinuance of certain of
our product lines.

Included within Special charges for the three and nine months ended March 31, 2010 is a charge of nil and
$0.5 million, respectively, relating to certain capital assets that were written down in connection with various
leasehold improvements and redundant office equipment at abandoned facilities.

NOTE 14—ACQUISITIONS

Fiscal 2010

Vignette Corporation.

On July 21, 2009, we acquired, by way of merger, all of the issued and outstanding shares of Vignette, an
Austin, Texas based company that provides and develops software used for managing and delivering business
content. Per the terms of the merger agreement, each share of common stock of Vignette (not already owned by
Open Text) issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective date of the merger (July 21, 2009) was
converted into the right to receive $8.00 in cash and 0.1447 of one Open Text common share (equivalent to a
value of $5.33 as of July 21, 2009). The acquisition of Vignette is expected to strengthen our ability to offer an
expanded portfolio of Enterprise Content Management (ECM) solutions to further consolidate our position as an
independent leader in the ECM marketplace. In accordance with ASC Topic 805, this acquisition was accounted
for as a business combination.
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The results of operations of Vignette have been consolidated with those of Open Text beginning July 22,
2009.

Total consideration for this acquisition was comprised of:

Equity consideration paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $125,223
Cash consideration paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 182,909

Fair value of total consideration transferred . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 308,132
Vignette shares already owned by Open Text through open market purchases (at

fair value) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13,283

$321,415

Acquisition related costs (included in Special charges in the Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Income) for the nine months ended
March 31, 2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,917

Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed

The recognized amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, based upon their fair values
as of July 21, 2009 are set forth below:

Current assets (inclusive of cash acquired of $92,309) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $171,959
Long-term assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22,323
Intangible customer assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22,700
Intangible technology assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 68,200
Total liabilities assumed . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (96,291)

Total identifiable net assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 188,891
Goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 132,524

Net assets acquired . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $321,415

The fair value of Common shares issued as part of the consideration was determined based upon the closing
price of Open Text’s common shares on acquisition date.

The factors that impact the qualitative composition of goodwill, the allocation of goodwill to our reporting
units and the deductibility thereof for income tax purposes are currently being assessed.

The fair value of current assets acquired includes accounts receivable with a fair value of $27.1 million. The
gross amount receivable was $28.3 million, of which $1.2 million was expected to be uncollectible.

As of acquisition date, Vignette had significant deferred tax assets that were subject to valuation allowances
including deferred tax assets relating to the domestic federal net operating loss (NOL) carryforwards. Internal
Revenue Code Section 382 imposes substantial restrictions on the utilization of these NOLs in the event of an
“ownership change” of the corporation. We are currently assessing our ability to utilize these tax attributes prior
to their expiration. The final valuation of the deferred tax assets could result in a material change in the above
indicated amount of goodwill and intangible assets.
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The fair value of the acquired intangible customer assets of $22.7 million, and intangible technology assets
of $68.2 million, is provisional, pending any tax related impacts on the valuations of these items.

We recognized a gain of $4.4 million as a result of re-measuring to fair value our investment in Vignette
held before the date of acquisition. The gain was recognized in “Other income” in our consolidated financial
statements during the three months ended September 30, 2009.

The amount of Vignette’s revenue and net income included in Open Text’s consolidated statement of
operations for the three and nine months ended March 31, 2010, and the pro forma revenue and net income of the
combined entity had the acquisition date been July 1, 2009 and July 1, 2008, are set forth below:

Revenue Net Income

Actual from January 1, 2010 to March 31, 2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $30,500 $3,885

Revenue Net Income

Actual from July 22, 2009 to March 31, 2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $87,300 $468

Three months ended
March 31,

Nine months ended
March 31,

Supplemental Pro forma Information 2009 2010 2009

Total revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $225,954 $678,196 $695,260
Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 18,277 $ 18,704 $ 25,167

Included within net income for the periods reported above are the estimated amortization charges relating to
the preliminary allocated values of intangible assets.

NOTE 15—GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENCIES

Guarantees and indemnifications

We have entered into license agreements with customers that include limited intellectual property
indemnification clauses. Generally, we agree to indemnify our customers against legal claims that our software
products infringe certain third party intellectual property rights. In the event of such a claim, we are generally
obligated to defend our customers against the claim and either settle the claim at our expense or pay damages that
our customers are legally required to pay to the third-party claimant. These intellectual property infringement
indemnification clauses generally are subject to limits based upon the amount of the license sale. We have not
made any indemnification payments in relation to these indemnification clauses.

In connection with certain facility leases, we have guaranteed payments on behalf of our subsidiaries either
by providing a security deposit with the landlord or through unsecured bank guarantees obtained from local
banks.

We have not accrued a liability for guarantees, indemnities or warranties described above in the
accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets since no material payments are expected to be made. The
maximum amount of potential future payments under such guarantees, indemnities and warranties is not
determinable.
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Litigation

We are subject from time to time to legal proceedings and claims, either asserted or unasserted, that arise in
the ordinary course of business, and accrue for these items where appropriate. While the outcome of these
proceedings and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we do not believe that the outcome of any of these
legal matters will have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations and
cash flows. Currently, we are not involved in any litigation that we reasonably believe could materially impact
our financial position or results of operations and cash flows.

NOTE 16—SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURES

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Three months ended
March 31,

Nine months ended
March 31,

2010 2009 2010 2009

Cash paid during the period for interest . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,061 $3,034 $ 8,547 $12,074
Cash received during the period for interest . . . . . . . . . . $ 142 $ 739 $ 687 $ 3,938
Cash paid during the period for income taxes . . . . . . . . . $12,443 $1,005 $28,116 $ 6,028

NOTE 17—NET INCOME PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share are computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of Common
Shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share are computed by dividing net income by the
shares used in the calculation of basic net income per share plus the dilutive effect of common share equivalents,
such as stock options, using the treasury stock method. Common share equivalents are excluded from the
computation of diluted net income per share if their effect is anti-dilutive.

Three months ended
March 31,

Nine months ended
March 31,

2010 2009 2010 2009

Basic earnings per share
Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $13,114 $22,035 $36,045 $37,457

Basic earnings per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.23 $ 0.42 $ 0.64 $ 0.72

Diluted earnings per share
Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $13,114 $22,035 $36,045 $37,457

Diluted earnings per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.23 $ 0.41 $ 0.63 $ 0.71

Weighted average number of shares outstanding
Basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 56,537 52,312 56,106 51,825
Effect of dilutive securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,159 1,129 1,108 1,297

Diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 57,696 53,441 57,214 53,122

Excluded as anti-dilutive * . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 309 419 527 34

* Represents options to purchase Common Shares excluded from the calculation of diluted net income per share
because the exercise price of the stock options was greater than or equal to the average price of the Common
Shares during the period.
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NOTE 18—RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Our procedure regarding the approval of any related party transaction is that the material facts of such
transaction shall be reviewed by the independent members of our Board and the transaction approved by a
majority of the independent members of our Board. The Board reviews all transactions wherein we are, or will be
a participant and any related party has or will have a direct or indirect interest. In determining whether to approve
a related party transaction, the Board generally takes into account, among other facts it deems appropriate:
whether the transaction is on terms no less favorable than terms generally available to an unaffiliated third-party
under the same or similar circumstances; the extent and nature of the related person’s interest in the transaction;
the benefits to the company of the proposed transaction; if applicable, the effects on a director’s independence;
and if applicable, the availability of other sources of comparable services or products.

During the nine months ended March 31, 2010, Mr. Stephen Sadler, a director, earned approximately $0.3
million (nine months ended March 31, 2009 – $0.4 million) in consulting fees from Open Text for assistance
with acquisition-related business activities. Mr. Sadler abstained from voting on all transactions from which he
would potentially derive consulting fees.

NOTE 19—SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Nstein Technologies Inc.

On April 1, 2010, we acquired Nstein Technologies Inc, (Nstein) a software company based in Montreal,
Quebec, Canada. Nstein provides content management solutions which help enterprises centralize, understand
and manage large amounts of content. Nstein’s solutions include its patented “Text Mining Engine” which allows
users to more easily search through different content and data. We believe we will be able to use Nstein’s
solutions to leverage and enhance our own product offering, thus further strengthening our position as an
independent leader in the ECM market.

Total consideration for this acquisition was $32.8 million, of which $24.3 million was paid in cash and the
rest in Open Text shares.

Burntsand Inc.

On April 26, 2010, we announced our intention to acquire all issued and outstanding shares of Burntsand Inc
(Burntsand) for a total of approximately CAD $11 million. The transaction is subject to the approval of
Burntsand’s shareholders and is expected to close some time in our fourth quarter of Fiscal 2010. Burntsand,
based in Toronto, Ontario, Canada, is a provider of technology consulting services for customers with complex
information processing and information management requirements, focusing in particular in areas such as
Enterprise Content Management, Collaboration and Service Management. We believe Burntsand will
complement and enhance our current service offerings to further strengthen our position in the ECM market.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations, contains forward-looking statements regarding future events and our future
results that are subject to the safe harbors within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995, and created under the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. All
statements other than statements of historical facts are statements that could be deemed forward-looking
statements.

Certain statements in this report may contain words such as “anticipates,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,”
“believes,” “seeks,” “estimates,” “may,” “could,” “would” and other similar language and are considered
forward looking statements or information under applicable securities laws. In addition, any information or
statements that refer to expectations, beliefs, plans, projections, objectives, performance or other
characterizations of future events or circumstances, including any underlying assumptions, are forward-looking,
and based on our current expectations, estimates, forecasts and projections about the operating environment,
economies and markets in which we operate. Such forward-looking information or statements are subject to
important assumptions, risks and uncertainties that are difficult to predict, and the actual outcome may be
materially different. Our assumptions, although considered reasonable by us at the date of this report, may prove
to be inaccurate and consequently our actual results could differ materially from the expectations set out herein.

We undertake no obligation to revise or publicly release the results of any revisions to these forward-
looking information or statements. You should carefully review Part II Item 1A “Risk Factors” and other
documents we file from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission and other applicable
securities regulators. A number of factors may materially affect our business, financial condition, operating
results and prospects. These factors include but are not limited to those set forth in our Annual Report on Form
10-K and Part II Item 1A “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this report. Any one of these factors may cause our
actual results to differ materially from recent results or from our anticipated future results. You should not rely
too heavily on the forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, because these
forward-looking statements are relevant only as of the date they were made.

The following MD&A is intended to help readers understand the results of our operation and financial
condition, and is provided as a supplement to, and should be read in conjunction with, our consolidated financial
statements and the accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (the Notes) under
Part I, Item1 of this Form 10-Q.

Growth and percentage comparisons made herein generally refer to the three and nine months ended
March 31, 2010 compared with the three and nine months ended March 31, 2009, unless otherwise noted.

Where we say “we”, “us”, “our”, “Open Text” or “the Company”, we mean Open Text Corporation or
Open Text Corporation and its subsidiaries, as applicable.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Open Text

We are an independent company providing Enterprise Content management (ECM) software solutions.
ECM is the set of technologies used to capture, manage, store, preserve, find and retrieve structured and
unstructured content. We focus solely on ECM software solutions with a view to being recognized as “The
Content Experts” in the software industry. We endeavor to be at the leading edge of content management
technology, by continually upgrading and improving on our product offering. This is done internally and through
acquisitions of companies that own technologies we feel will benefit our clients.
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Our initial public offering was on the NASDAQ in 1996 and subsequently on the Toronto Stock Exchange
in 1998. We are a multinational company and currently employ approximately 3,700 people worldwide.

Quarterly Highlights and Features:

Some highlights and features of our operating results for the three months ended March 31, 2010 include:

• Total revenues increased by 10.8%, compared to the same period in the prior fiscal year, to $212.8
million. Despite our overall revenues decreasing on a quarterly sequential basis, we were still able to
maintain our targets on gross margin and profitability.

• Customer support revenues increased to $124.4 million; a 22.1% increase over the same period in the
prior fiscal year.

• Operating cash flow increased by 7.0%, compared to the same period in the prior fiscal year, to $78.0
million.

Other highlights were as follows:

• In April 2010, we acquired Nstein Technologies Inc. (Nstein). See “Acquisitions” below for more
details. We also announced in April that we will start to integrate Nstein’s technology with our own to
make “content analytics” more pervasive across our entire ECM suite of products. The “content
analytics” capabilities will enhance the existing information retrieval capabilities provided by the
native search function inherent in our ECM suite.

• In April 2010, we were recognized as one of the top 25 Canadian software companies, based on growth
in revenue, as published on the “Branham300” list, put out by the Branham Group, a Canadian industry
analyst and strategic consulting firm serving the global information technology marketplace. To be
considered for the rankings of Canadian firms, organizations have to be founded and headquartered in
Canada and corporate direction must be determined in Canada.

• In March 2010, we announced the unveiling of a new application called “Open Text Everywhere”,
which is an application that will make the Open Text “ECM Suite” available via mobile devices. The
“Open Text Everywhere” application aligns with our strategy to continue to help organizations manage
content to improve productivity, which now includes managing information sent or received from
mobile devices.

Acquisitions

Our competitive position in the marketplace requires us to maintain a complex array of technologies,
products, services and capabilities. In light of the continually evolving marketplace in which we operate, we
regularly evaluate various acquisition opportunities within the ECM marketplace and elsewhere in the
technology industry. We believe our acquisitions support our long-term strategic direction, strengthen our
competitive position, expand our customer base and provide greater scale to accelerate innovation, grow our
earnings and increase shareholder value. We expect to continue to strategically acquire companies, products,
services and technologies to augment our existing business.

During Fiscal 2010 we have continued our acquisition activity.

Burntsand Inc.

On April 26, 2010, we announced our intention to acquire all issued and outstanding shares of Burntsand Inc
(Burntsand) for a total of approximately CAD $11 million. The transaction is subject to the approval of
Burntsand’s shareholders and is expected to close some time in our fourth quarter of Fiscal 2010. Burntsand,
based in Toronto, Ontario, Canada, is a provider of technology consulting services for customers with complex
information processing and information management requirements, focusing in particular in areas such as
Enterprise Content Management, Collaboration and Service Management. We believe Burntsand will
complement and enhance our current service offerings to further strengthen our position in the ECM market.
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Nstein Technologies Inc. (Nstein)

On April 1, 2010, we acquired Nstein, a provider of content management solutions designed to help
companies centralize, understand and manage large amounts of data. Nstein’s solutions include its patented “Text
Mining Engine” which allows users to more easily search through different content and data. Nstein is based in
Montreal, Quebec, Canada, with foreign operations. We believe we will be able to use Nstein’s solutions to
leverage and enhance our own product offering, thus further strengthening our position as an independent leader
in the ECM market. For more details relating to the acquisition of Nstein, see Note 19 “Subsequent Events”.

Vignette Corporation (Vignette)

On July 21, 2009, we acquired Vignette, a provider of ECM software products. Vignette is based in Austin,
Texas with worldwide operations. We believe that this acquisition will further consolidate our position as an
independent leader in the ECM marketplace and help strengthen our Web Content Management (WCM) product
offering in conjunction with our existing RedDot products (see Note 14 for more details relating to this
acquisition).

Partners

Partnerships are fundamental to the Open Text business. We have developed strong and mutually beneficial
relationships with key technology partners, including major software vendors, systems integrators, and storage
vendors, which give us leverage to deliver customer-focused solutions. Key partnership alliances of Open Text
include, but are not limited to, Oracle©, Microsoft©, and SAP©. We rely on close cooperation with partners for
sales and product development, as well as for the optimization of opportunities which arise in our competitive
environment. We continually aim to strengthen our global partner program, with emphasis on developing
strategic relations and achieving close integration with partners. Our partners continue to generate business in
key areas such as archiving, records management and compliance.

Our revenue from partners contributed approximately 38% of our license revenues in the three months
ended March 31, 2010 compared to approximately 49% during the three months ended March 31, 2009.

Outlook for the remainder of Fiscal 2010

We believe that we have a strong position in the ECM market and that the market for content solutions
remains stable. We think that our diversified geographic profile helps strengthen our position, in that
approximately half of our revenues come from outside of North America and thus helps cushions us from a
“downturn” in any one specific region. Additionally, our focus on compliance based products also helps to
partially insulate us from “downturns” in the macroeconomic environment. We also believe we have a strong
position in the ECM market because over 50% of our revenues are from customer support revenues, which are
generally a recurring source of income, and we expect this trend will continue.

Results of Operations

Revenues

Revenue by Product Type and Geography:

The following tables set forth our revenues by product, revenues as a percentage of total revenues and
revenues by major geography for each of the periods indicated:

Revenues by product type

Three months ended
March 31, Change/

increase
(decrease)

Nine months ended
March 31, Change/

increase
(decrease)(In thousands) 2010 2009 2010 2009

License . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 49,527 $ 51,919 $ (2,392) $169,547 $166,845 $ 2,702
Customer support . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 124,443 101,949 22,494 378,375 300,816 77,559
Service and other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 38,807 38,167 640 124,067 114,648 9,419

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $212,777 $192,035 $20,742 $671,989 $582,309 $89,680
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Three months ended
March 31,

Nine months ended
March 31,

(% of total revenue) 2010 2009 2010 2009

License . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23.3% 27.0% 25.2% 28.7%
Customer support . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 58.5% 53.1% 56.3% 51.7%
Service and other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18.2% 19.9% 18.5% 19.6%

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Revenue by Geography

Three months ended
March 31, Change/

increase
(decrease)

Nine months ended
March 31, Change/

increase
(decrease)(In thousands) 2010 2009 2010 2009

North America . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $111,410 $ 98,357 $13,053 $343,691 $287,594 $56,097
Europe . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 83,831 82,107 1,724 280,880 263,912 16,968
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17,536 11,571 5,965 47,418 30,803 16,615

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $212,777 $192,035 $20,742 $671,989 $582,309 $89,680

Three months ended
March 31,

Nine months ended
March 31,

% of total revenue 2010 2009 2010 2009

North America . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 52.4% 51.2% 51.1% 49.4%
Europe . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 39.4% 42.8% 41.8% 45.3%
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8.2% 6.0% 7.1% 5.3%

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

License Revenues consists of fees earned from the licensing of software products to customers. Our license
revenues are affected by the strength of general economic and industry conditions, the competitive strength of
our software products, and our acquisitions. Our license business is also characterized by long sales cycles
whereby the timing of a few large software license transactions can substantially affect our quarterly new
software license revenues.

License revenues decreased by approximately $2.4 million in the three months ended March 31, 2010 as
compared to the three months ended March 31, 2009. The decrease in license revenue is geographically
attributable to a reduction in license sales from North America of $0.3 million, and in Europe of $3.4 million.
These decreases were offset by an increase in license revenue from other geographies of $1.3 million.

License revenues increased by $2.7 million in the nine months ended March 31, 2010 as compared to the
nine months ended March 31, 2009. The increase in license revenue is geographically attributable to an increase
in North America license sales of $3.2 million, and an increase in license sales in other geographies of $3.7
million. These increases were offset by a decrease in Europe of $4.2 million.

Customer Support Revenues consists of revenues from our customer support and maintenance agreements.
These agreements allow our customers to receive technical support, enhancements and upgrades to new versions
of our software products when and if available. Customer support revenue is generated from support and
maintenance relating to current year sales of software products and from the renewal of existing maintenance
agreements for software licenses sold in prior periods. Therefore changes in customer support revenues do not
necessarily correlate directly to the changes in license revenues from period to period. The terms of support and
maintenance agreements are typically twelve months, with customer renewal options.
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Customer support revenues increased by approximately $22.5 million in the three months ended March 31,
2010 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2009. The increase in customer support revenues is
attributable to an increase in North America customer support sales of $12.6 million, an increase in Europe
customer support sales of $5.9 million and the remainder of the change due to sales generated in other
geographies.

Customer support revenues increased by approximately $77.6 million in the nine months ended March 31,
2010 as compared to the nine months ended March 31, 2009. The increase in customer support revenues is
attributable to an increase in North America customer support sales of $43.9 million, an increase in Europe
customer support sales of $22.5 million and the remainder of the change due to sales generated in other
geographies.

Service and Other Revenues. Service revenue consists of revenues from consulting contracts and contracts
to provide implementation, training and integration services (Professional Services). “Other” revenue consists of
hardware revenue. These revenues are grouped within the “Service and Other” category because they are
relatively immaterial. Professional Services, if purchased, are typically performed after the purchase of new
software licenses.

Service and other revenues increased very slightly by approximately $0.6 million in the three months ended
March 31, 2010 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2009.

Service and other revenues increased by approximately $9.4 million in the nine months ended March 31,
2010 as compared to the nine months ended March 31, 2009. The increase in service and other revenues is due to
an increase in North America of $9.0 million, offset by a decrease in revenues from Europe of $1.3 million. The
remainder of the difference is from revenue generated in other geographies.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin by Product Type

The following tables set forth the changes in cost of revenues and gross margin by product type for the
periods indicated:

Three months ended
March 31, Change/

increase
(decrease)

Nine months ended
March 31, Change/

increase
(decrease)(In thousands) 2010 2009 2010 2009

License . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3,744 $ 4,496 $ (752) $ 11,522 $ 12,670 $ (1,148)
Customer Support . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,777 17,304 3,473 63,209 50,227 12,982
Service and Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31,314 30,288 1,026 101,036 89,898 11,138
Amortization of acquired technology-based

intangible assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,044 11,625 3,419 44,338 34,171 10,167

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $70,879 $63,713 $7,166 $220,105 $186,966 $33,139

Three months ended
March 31,

Nine months ended
March 31,

Gross Margin 2010 2009 2010 2009

License . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 92.4% 91.3% 93.2% 92.4%
Customer Support . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 83.3% 83.0% 83.3% 83.3%
Service and Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19.3% 20.6% 18.6% 21.6%

Cost of license revenues consists primarily of royalties payable to third parties and product media
duplication, instruction manuals and packaging expenses.
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Cost of license revenues decreased, non-materially, by $0.8 million and $1.1 million, respectively, during
the three and nine months ending March 31, 2010, as compared to the same periods in the prior fiscal year.

Overall gross margin on license revenues has remained relatively stable over the three and nine months
ended March 31, 2010, as compared to the same periods in the prior fiscal year.

Cost of customer support revenues is comprised primarily of technical support personnel and related costs,
as well as third party royalty type costs.

Cost of customer support revenues increased by $3.5 million and $13.0 million, respectively, during the
three and nine months ended March 31, 2010 as compared to the same periods in the prior fiscal year. The
increase in costs is primarily due to an increase in direct costs associated with the relative increase in customer
support revenues.

Overall gross margin on customer support revenue has remained relatively stable over the three and nine
months ended March 31, 2010.

Cost of service and other revenues consists primarily of the costs of providing integration, customization
and training with respect to our various software products. The most significant components of these costs are
personnel-related expenses, travel costs and third party subcontracting.

Cost of service and other revenues increased slightly by $1.0 million during the three months ended
March 31, 2010, as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2009. The increase is primarily related to
higher training expenses incurred, in relation to an increase in services and other revenues.

Cost of services and other revenues increased by $11.1 million in the nine months ended March 31, 2010 as
a result of additional costs incurred in association with hardware revenue, (due to the fact that we had no
hardware costs (and sales) in the first quarter of Fiscal 2009), and as a result of higher training and support costs
associated with an increase in service and other revenues.

Amortization of acquired technology-based intangible assets increased by $3.4 million in the three months
ended March 31, 2010 and $10.2 million in the nine months ended March 31, 2010, respectively, as compared to
the same periods in the prior fiscal year, due to the increase in intangible assets held as of March 31, 2010, on
account of acquisitions.

Operating Expenses

The following table sets forth total operating expenses by function and as a percentage of total revenue for
the periods indicated:

Three months ended
March 31, Change/

increase
(decrease)

Nine months ended
March 31, Change/

increase
(decrease)(In thousands) 2010 2009 2010 2009

Research and development . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 31,654 $ 28,809 $ 2,845 $ 97,543 $ 87,335 $10,208
Sales and marketing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 45,983 44,426 1,557 150,564 138,605 11,959
General and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . 18,405 17,937 468 62,007 54,604 7,403
Depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,437 3,229 1,208 12,982 8,847 4,135
Amortization of acquired customer-based

intangible assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,910 11,176 (2,266) 26,562 29,529 (2,967)
Special charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,083 1,788 4,295 35,095 13,234 21,861

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $115,472 $107,365 $ 8,107 $384,753 $332,154 $52,599
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Three months ended
March 31,

Nine months ended
March 31,

(in % of total revenues) 2010 2009 2010 2009

Research and development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14.9% 15.0% 14.5% 15.0%
Sales and marketing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21.6% 23.1% 22.4% 23.8%
General and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8.6% 9.3% 9.2% 9.4%
Depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.1% 1.7% 1.9% 1.5%
Amortization of acquired customer-based intangible assets . . . . . . . . 4.2% 5.8% 4.0% 5.1%
Special charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.9% 0.9% 5.2% 2.3%

Research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel expenses, contracted research and
development expenses, and facility costs. Research and development enables organic growth and as such we
dedicate extensive efforts every quarter to update and upgrade our product offering. The primary driver is
typically budgeted software upgrades and software development.

Research and development expenses increased by approximately $2.8 million in the three months ended
March 31, 2010 as compared to the same period in the prior fiscal year, primarily due to an increase in direct
labour and labour-related benefits and expenses. Overhead expenses also increased by approximately $2.2
million this quarter, however it was almost equally offset by the impact of an increase in recoverable income tax
credits of $1.2 million, and a decrease in consulting-related expenses of $0.4 million, along with other
miscellaneous costs.

Research and development expenses increased by approximately $10.2 million in the nine months ended
March 31, 2010 as compared to the same period in the prior fiscal year, primarily due to an increase in direct
labour and labour-related benefits and expenses of $11.6 million, as well as in increase in overhead expenses of
$5.0 million. These were offset by a decrease in consulting-related expenses of approximately $2.9 million and
an increase in recoverable income tax credits of $1.9 million. The remainder of the difference can be attributed to
changes in other miscellaneous items.

Overall, our research and development expenses, as a percentage of total revenues, have decreased slightly
in the three and nine months ended March 31, 2010, as compared to the same periods in the prior fiscal year, as a
result of efficiencies achieved.

Headcount at March 31, 2010, related to research and development activities, increased by 179 employees
compared to March 31, 2009.

Our expectation for Fiscal 2010 is that research and development expenses will be in the range of 14%—
16% of total revenue. Currently, research and development expenses fall within this expectation.

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of personnel expenses and costs associated with advertising
and trade shows.

Sales and marketing expenses increased by $1.6 million in the three months ended March 31, 2010 as
compared to the same period in the prior fiscal year, primarily due to an increase in direct labour and labour-
related benefits and expenses of $3.2 million. This was offset by a decrease in costs primarily associated with
advertising and trade shows of approximately $1.5 million. The remainder of the difference is due to other
miscellaneous sales and marketing-related expenses.

Sales and marketing expenses increased by $12.0 million in the nine months ended March 31, 2010 as
compared to the same period in the prior fiscal year, primarily due to an increase in direct labour and labour-
related benefits and expenses of $12.4 million, as well as consulting related expenses of approximately $1.0
million. These increases were offset by a decrease in costs associated primarily with advertising and trade shows
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of $1.7 million. The remainder of the difference is due to changes in other miscellaneous sales and marketing-
related expenses.

Overall, our sales and marketing expenses, as a percentage of total revenues, have decreased in the three and
nine months ended March 31, 2010, as compared to the same periods in the prior fiscal year, as a result of
efficiencies achieved.

Headcount at March 31, 2010, related to sales and marketing activities, increased by 5 employees compared
to March 31, 2009.

Our expectation for Fiscal 2010 is that sales and marketing expenses will be in the range of 24% -26% of
total revenue. Currently, sales and marketing expenses are slightly below this as a result of efficiencies achieved.

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel expenses, related overhead, audit fees,
consulting expenses and public company costs.

General and administrative expenses remained relatively stable during the three months ended March 31,
2010 as compared to the same period in the prior fiscal year.

General and administrative expenses increased by $7.4 million in the nine months ended March 31, 2010 as
compared to the same period in the prior fiscal year, primarily due to an increase in direct labour and labour-
related benefits and expenses of $6.7 million, as well as an increase in consulting-related expenses of $1.0
million. The remainder of the difference can be attributed to changes in other miscellaneous items.

Overall, our general and administrative expenses, as a percentage of total revenues, have decreased in the
three and nine months ended March 31, 2010, as compared to the same periods in the prior fiscal year, as a result
of efficiencies achieved.

Headcount at March 31, 2010, related to general and administrative activities, increased by 8 employees
compared to March 31, 2009.

Our expectation for Fiscal 2010 is that general and administrative expenses will be in the range of 9% -10%
of total revenue. Currently, general and administrative expenses fall within this expectation.

Depreciation expenses increased by $1.2 million and $4.1 million in the three and nine months ended
March 31, 2010, respectively, due to capital asset acquisitions.

Amortization of acquired intangible customer-based assets decreased by $2.3 million and $3.0 million in
the three and nine months ended March 31, 2010, respectively, due to a change in the allocated values of certain
acquired intangible assets.

Special charges typically relate to amounts that we expect to pay on account of restructuring plans relating
to employee workforce reduction and abandonment of excess facilities, impairment of long-lived assets,
acquisition related costs (with effect from July 1, 2009 and onwards) and other non-recurring charges. Generally,
we implement such plans in the context of streamlining existing Open Text operations with that of acquired
entities. Actions related to such restructuring plans are, more often than not, completed within a period of one
year. In certain limited situations, if the planned activity does not need to be implemented, or an expense lower
than anticipated is paid out, we record a recovery of the originally recorded expense to special charges.

In accordance with the new business combination accounting rules which are applicable to us with effect
from July 1, 2009, acquisition-related expenses are required to be included in the determination of income and
may not, as was permitted earlier, be capitalized as part of the cost of the acquisition. As a result, we recorded an
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additional expense (within Special charges) of $0.6 million and $2.5 million, in the three and nine months ended
March 31, 2010, respectively, on account of expenses related to these acquisitions.

For more details on Special charges, see Note 13.

Other income (expense) relates to certain non-operational charges consisting primarily of foreign exchange
gains (losses), changes in the market value of financial assets/hedges, and tax-related penalties.

For the three months ended March 31, 2010, net other expense increased by $17.2 million, as compared to
the same period in the prior fiscal year primarily due to the impact of transactional foreign currency adjustments
(which were a net loss in the current period, compared to a net gain in the prior period).

For the nine months ended March 31, 2010, net other expense increased by $3.6 million, as compared to the
same period in the prior fiscal year, primarily due to the impact of transactional foreign currency adjustments
(which were a net loss for the current year compared to a net gain last year).

Net interest expense is primarily made up of cash interest paid on our debt facilities and the unrealized gain
(loss) on our interest rate collar (which expired as of December 31, 2009), offset by interest income earned on
our cash and cash equivalents.

Interest expense relates primarily to interest paid on our long-term debt obtained for the purpose of partially
financing our Hummingbird acquisition (the term loan). The term loan bears floating-rate interest at LIBOR plus
a fixed rate which is currently set at 2.25% per annum. The carrying value of the term loan, as of March 31,
2010, was approximately $289 million.

Net interest expense remained relatively stable during the three months ended March 31, 2010, as compared
to the same period in the prior fiscal year.

Net interest expense decreased by $2.4 million in the nine months ended March 31, 2010 as compared to the
same period in the prior fiscal year, primarily due to a decrease in the interest paid on the RBC loan on account
of lower interest rates in the current period.

For more details on interest expenses see Note 10 and also the discussion under “Long-term Debt and Credit
Facilities” under the “Liquidity and Capital Resources” section of this MD&A.

Income taxes: The tax provision rate was relatively consistent over the three months ended March 31, 2010,
compared to the same period in the prior fiscal year.

The tax provision rate increased slightly from 28% in the nine months ended March 31, 2009 to 34% in the
nine months ended March 31, 2010. The increased rate is primarily on account of the expiration of competent
authority relief that no longer offsets the tax liability, as well as an increase in certain valuation allowances.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table sets forth changes in cash flow from operating, investing and financing activities for the
periods indicated:

Nine months ended
March 31, Change/

increase
(decrease)(In thousands) 2010 2009

Cash provided by operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $114,971 $137,543 $(22,572)
Cash used in investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 72,307 148,533 (76,226)
Cash provided by financing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,210 23,486 (17,276)
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Cash flows provided by operating activities

Cash flows from operating activities decreased during the nine months ended March 31, 2010 as compared
to the same period in the prior fiscal year, primarily due to lower cash inflows relating to changes in working
capital balances of $38.1 million, offset by increased inflows on account of the positive impact of increased
non-cash charges of $16.9 million. The remaining difference is due to a slight decrease in net income of $1.4
million.

Cash flows used in investing activities

Cash flows used by investing activities decreased by $76.2 million in the nine months ended March 31,
2010, primarily due to: i) $39.7 million of additional spending on acquisitions during the comparative period and
ii) $45.5 million realized from the sale of short-term investments in the current period. These decreases were
offset by $9.0 million of additional capital asset purchases in the current period.

Cash flows provided by financing activities

Cash flows provided by financing activities consist of long-term debt financing, monies received from the
issuance of shares exercised by our employees and excess tax benefits accruing upon the sale of Open Text stock
options by employees. These inflows are typically offset by scheduled and non-scheduled repayments of our
long-term debt financing and, when applicable, repurchases of our shares.

Cash flows from financing activities decreased by $17.3 million in the nine months ended March 31, 2010
compared to the same period in the prior fiscal year, primarily because of a decrease in excess tax benefits on
share-based compensation expense and lesser proceeds received from the issuance of common shares.

Long-term Debt and Credit Facilities

On October 2, 2006, we entered into a $465.0 million credit agreement (the credit agreement) with a
Canadian chartered bank (the bank) consisting of the term loan facility in the amount of $390.0 million and a
$75.0 million committed revolving long-term credit facility (the revolver). The term loan was used to partially
finance the Hummingbird acquisition and the revolver will be used for general business purposes, if necessary.
No amount has been drawn under the revolver to date. The credit agreement is guaranteed by us and certain of
our subsidiaries. For details relating to this and our other credit facilities, see Note 10.

The material financial covenants under our term loan agreement are that:

• We must maintain a “consolidated leverage” ratio of no more than 3:1 at the end of each financial
quarter. Consolidated leverage ratio is defined for this purpose as the proportion of our total debt,
including guarantees and letters of credit, over our “trailing twelve months” net income before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA); and

• We must maintain a “consolidated interest coverage” ratio of 3:1 or more at the end of each financial
quarter. Consolidated interest coverage ratio is defined for this purpose as our consolidated EBITDA
over our consolidated interest expense.

As of March 31, 2010, the carrying value of the term loan was $288.8 million and we were in compliance
with all loan covenants relating to this facility.

We anticipate that our cash and cash equivalents, as well as available credit facilities and committed loan
facilities will be sufficient to fund our anticipated cash requirements for working capital, contractual
commitments and capital expenditures for the foreseeable future.
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Commitments and Contractual Obligations

We have entered into the following contractual obligations with minimum annual payments for the indicated
Fiscal periods as follows:

Payments due by

Total
Period ending
June 30, 2010

July 1, 2010 –
June 30, 2012

July 1, 2012 –
June 30, 2014

July 1,
2014 and beyond

Long-term debt obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . $327,008 $ 2,844 $33,195 $290,969 $ —
Operating lease obligations * . . . . . . . . . . 109,475 7,300 40,853 25,403 35,919
Purchase obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,469 510 2,567 392 —

$439,952 $10,654 $76,615 $316,764 $35,919

* Net of $7.6 million of non-cancelable sublease income to be received from properties which we have
subleased to other parties.

The long-term debt obligations are comprised of interest and principal payments on our term loan agreement
and a five-year mortgage on our headquarters in Waterloo, Ontario. See Note 10.

Litigation

We are subject from time to time to legal proceedings and claims, either asserted or unasserted, that arise in
the ordinary course of business. While the outcome of these proceedings and claims cannot be predicted with
certainty, our management does not believe that the outcome of any of these legal matters will have a material
adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not enter into off-balance sheet financing as a matter of practice except for the use of operating
leases for office space, computer equipment, and vehicles. None of the operating leases described in the previous
sentence has, or is expected to have, a material current or future effect on our financial condition (including any
possible changes in our financial condition), revenue, expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital
expenditures or capital resources. In accordance with U.S. GAAP, neither the lease liability nor the underlying
asset is carried on the balance sheet, as the terms of the leases do not meet the criteria for capitalization.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. These accounting
principles require us to make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions. We believe that the estimates,
judgments and assumptions upon which we rely are reasonable based upon information available to us at the time
that these estimates, judgments and assumptions are made. These estimates, judgments and assumptions can
affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements as well as the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the periods presented. To the extent that there are material differences
between these estimates, judgments and assumptions and actual results, our financial statements will be affected.
The accounting policies that reflect our more significant estimates, judgments and assumptions and which we
believe are the most critical to aid in fully understanding and evaluating our reported financial results include the
following:

• Revenue recognition

• Business combinations

• Goodwill and intangible assets—Impairment Assessments

• Accounting for income taxes
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• Legal and other contingencies

• The valuation of stock options granted and liabilities related to share-based payments, including the
long-term incentive plan

• Allowance for doubtful accounts

• Facility and restructuring accruals

• Financial instruments

• The valuation of pension assets and obligations

Please refer to our MD&A contained in Part II, Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal
year ended June 30, 2009 for a more complete discussion of our critical accounting policies and estimates.

New Accounting Standards

For information relating to new accounting pronouncements and the impact of these pronouncements on our
consolidated financial statements, see Note 2.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are primarily exposed to market risks associated with fluctuations in interest rates on our term loan and
foreign currency exchange rates.

Interest rate risk

Our exposure to interest rate fluctuations relate primarily to our term loan, as we had no borrowings
outstanding under our line of credit as of March 31, 2010. As of March 31, 2010, we had an outstanding balance
of $288.8 million on the term loan. The term loan bears a floating interest rate of LIBOR plus a fixed rate of
2.25%. As of March 31, 2010, an adverse change in LIBOR of 100 basis points (1.0%) would have the effect of
increasing our annual interest payment on the term loan by approximately $2.9 million, assuming that the loan
balance as of March 31, 2010, is outstanding for the entire period.

Foreign currency risk

Our reporting currency is the U.S dollar. On account of our international operations, a substantial portion of
our cash and cash equivalents is held in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. As of March 31, 2010, this balance
represented approximately 55% of our total cash and cash equivalents. A 10% adverse change in foreign
exchange rates versus the U.S. dollar would have decreased our reported cash and cash equivalents by
approximately 6%.

Our international operations expose us to foreign currency fluctuations. Revenues and related expenses
generated from subsidiaries, other than those located in the U.S., are generally denominated in the functional
currencies of the local countries. These functional currencies include Euros, Canadian Dollars, Australian dollars
and British Pounds. The income statements of our international operations are translated into U.S. dollars at the
average exchange rates in each applicable period. To the extent the U.S. dollar strengthens against foreign
currencies, the foreign currency conversion of these foreign currency denominated transactions into U.S. dollars
results in reduced revenues, operating expenses and net income (loss) for our international operations. Similarly,
our revenues, operating expenses and net income (loss) will increase for our international operations, if the U.S.
dollar weakens against foreign currencies. We cannot predict the effect foreign exchange fluctuations will have
on our results going forward. However, if there is a change in foreign exchange rates versus the U.S. dollar, it
could have a material effect on our results of operations.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our management, with the
participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, performed an evaluation of the
effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rule
13a-15(e) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act). Based upon
that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that as of March 31, 2010, our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be
disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act was recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms, and that
material information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

Based on the evaluation completed by our management, in which our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer participated, our management has concluded that there were no changes in our internal control
over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the fiscal quarter ended
March 31, 2010 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal controls
over financial reporting.
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PART II OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Risk Factors

In addition to our Quarterly Reports filed on Form 10-Q for our Fiscal 2010, you should also carefully
consider the factors discussed in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for our
fiscal year ended June 30, 2009. These are not the only risks and uncertainties facing us. Our business is also
subject to general risks and uncertainties that affect many other companies.
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Item 6. Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed with this report:

Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibit

10.31 Open Text Corporation Directors’ Deferred Share Unit Plan effective February 2, 2010.

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Exchange Act, as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Exchange Act, as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS XBRL instance document

101.SCH XBRL taxonomy extension schema

101.CAL XBRL taxonomy extension calculation linkbase

101.DEF XBRL taxonomy extension definition linkbase

101.LAB XBRL taxonomy extension label linkbase

101.PRE XBRL taxonomy extension presentation linkbase
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Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)
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Sujeet Kini
Vice President, Controller

(Principal Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 10.31 

OPEN TEXT CORPORATION  

DIRECTORS’ DEFERRED SHARE UNIT PLAN  

Effective February 2, 2010 



  

The purposes of the Plan are:  
  

  

  

As used in the Plan, the following terms have the following meanings:  
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Section 1 Interpretation 

1.1 Purpose 

 
(a) to promote a greater alignment of long-term interests between directors of the Corporation and the shareholders of the 

Corporation; and 

 
(b) to provide a compensation system for directors that, together with the other director compensation mechanisms of the 

Corporation, is reflective of the responsibility, commitment and risk accompanying Board membership and the 
performance of the duties required of the various committees of the Board. 

1.2 Definitions 

 
(a) “Account” means the account maintained by the Corporation in its books for each Eligible Director to record the DSUs 

credited to such Eligible Director under the Plan; 

 
(b) “Affiliate” means an affiliate of the Corporation, as applicable, as the term “affiliate” is defined in paragraph 8 of the 

Canada Revenue Agency’s interpretation bulletin IT-337R4, Retiring Allowances; 

 

(c) “Annual Remuneration” means all amounts payable to an Eligible Director by the Corporation in respect of the services 
provided by the Eligible Director to the Corporation in connection with such Eligible Director’s service on the Board in a 
fiscal year, including without limitation (i) the annual base retainer fee for serving as a director, (ii) the annual retainer fee 
for serving as a member of a Board committee; and (iii) the annual retainer fee for chairing a Board committee which 
amounts shall, unless otherwise determined by the Board or the Committee, be payable Quarterly in arrears; provided that 
“Annual Remuneration” shall not include any amounts received by an Eligible Director as a reimbursement for expenses 
incurred in attending meetings or any DSUs awarded under Section 2.3.2; 

 
(d) “Applicable Law” means any applicable provision of law, domestic or foreign, including, without limitation, applicable 

securities legislation, together with all regulations, rules, policy statements, rulings, notices, orders or other instruments 
promulgated thereunder and Stock Exchange Rules; 

 

(e) “Beneficiary” means an individual who, on the date of an Eligible Director’s death, is the person who has been designated 
in accordance with Section 4.7 and the laws applying to the Plan, or where no such individual has been validly designated 
by the Eligible Director, or where the individual does not survive the Eligible Director, the Eligible Director’s legal 
representative; 
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 (f) “Board” means those individuals who serve from time to time as the directors of the Corporation; 

 

(g) “Broker” means, with respect to an Eligible Director, a broker independent from the Corporation under Stock Exchange 
Rules, who has been designated by the Eligible Director in accordance with rules established by the Committee and who 
is a member of the Toronto Stock Exchange, NASDAQ, or any such other stock exchange as may be determined by the 
Committee from time to time. 

 (h) “Code” means the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended; 

 
(i) “Committee” means the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee of the Board, or such other persons 

designated by the Board; 

 
(j) “Common Share” means a common share of the Corporation and includes any shares of the Corporation into which such 

shares may be converted, reclassified, subdivided, consolidated, exchanged or otherwise changed, whether pursuant to a 
reorganization, amalgamation, merger, arrangement or other form of reorganization; 

 

(k) “Conversion Date” means the date used to determine the Fair Market Value of a Deferred Share Unit for purposes of 
determining the number of Deferred Share Units to be credited to an Eligible Director under Section 2.3.1, which date 
shall, subject to variation as determined by the Board or Committee taking into account the trading blackout period 
applicable to the Corporation’s directors as specified in the Corporation’s insider trading policy, be the second trading day 
on the Toronto Stock Exchange following the announcement and release of the Corporation’s financial results for each 
Quarter and, in any event, shall not be earlier than the first business day of the year in respect of which the Deferred Share 
Units are being provided; 

 
(l) “Corporation” means Open Text Corporation and includes any successor corporation thereof, and any reference in the 

Plan to action by the Corporation means action by or under the authority of the Board or the Committee; 

 
(m) “Deferred Share Unit” or “DSU” means a unit credited by the Corporation to an Eligible Director by way of a 

bookkeeping entry in the books of the Corporation, as determined by the Board, pursuant to the Plan, the value of which 
at any particular date shall be the Fair Market Value at that date; 

 
(n) “DSU Award Agreement” means the written agreement evidencing an award of Deferred Share Units under Section 2.3.2 

in the form of Schedule B hereto; 

 
(o) “Election Notice” means the written election under Section 2.2 to receive Deferred Share Units in the form of Schedule A 

hereto; 
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(p) “Eligible Director” means all directors of the Corporation who are not employees of the Corporation or any Affiliate, and 

including any non-executive Chair of the Board; 

 (q) “Entitlement Date” has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 3.1 or Section 3.2, as applicable; 

 

(r) “Fair Market Value” means, with respect to any particular date, the simple average closing price of the Common Shares 
as traded on the stock exchange on which the highest aggregate volume of Common Shares have traded on each of the 
five trading days immediately preceding the particular date. In the event that the Common Shares are not listed and posted 
for trading on any stock exchange, the Fair Market Value shall be the fair market value of the Common Shares as 
determined by the Corporation in its sole discretion, acting reasonably and in good faith; 

 (s) “Plan” means this Open Text Corporation Directors’ Deferred Share Unit Plan, as amended from time to time; 

 
(t) “Quarter” means a fiscal quarter of the Corporation, which, until changed by the Corporation, shall be the three month 

period ending September 30, December 31, March 31 or June 30 in any year and “Quarterly” means each “Quarter”; 

 
(u) “Stock Exchange Rules” means the applicable rules of any stock exchange upon which shares of the Corporation are 

listed. 

 

(v) “Take-over Bid” means a take-over bid, as defined in the Securities Act (Ontario), which is a “formal bid” as defined in 
such Act, and which is made for all of the issued and outstanding Common Shares and may exclude (i) those Common 
Shares in the capital of the Corporation which are then owned by the offeror under such Take-over Bid, and/or (ii) those 
Common Shares which the offeror under such Take-over Bid then otherwise has, directly or indirectly, the right to 
acquire. 

 

(w) “Termination Date” means the date of a separation from service or loss of office or employment of the Eligible Director, 
including (i) the voluntary resignation or retirement of an Eligible Director from the Board; (ii) the death of an Eligible 
Director; or (iii) the removal of an Eligible Director from the Board whether by shareholder resolution or failure to 
achieve re-election; provided that the Eligible Director is not then an employee of the Corporation or an employee or 
director of an Affiliate; 

 
(x) “U.S. Taxpayer” means an Eligible Director who is a citizen or permanent resident of the United States for purposes of 

the Code or an Eligible Director for whom the compensation subject to deferral under this Plan would otherwise be 
subject to income tax under the Code. 



The Plan shall be effective as of February 2, 2010.  
  

If an Eligible Director should become an officer or employee of the Corporation while remaining as a director, his 
eligibility for the Plan shall be suspended effective the date of the commencement of his employment and shall resume upon 
termination of such employment provided he continues as a director of the Corporation. During the period of such ineligibility, such 
individual shall not be entitled to receive or be credited with any Deferred Share Units under the Plan, other than dividend allocations 
under Section 2.4.  
  

In this Plan, all references to the masculine include the feminine; references to the singular shall include the plural and 
vice versa, as the context shall require. If any provision of the Plan or part hereof is determined to be void or unenforceable in whole 
or in part, such determination shall not affect the validity or enforcement of any other provision or part thereof. Headings wherever 
used herein are for reference purposes only and do not limit or extend the meaning of the provisions contained herein. References to 
“Section” or “Sections” mean a section or sections contained in the Plan unless expressly stated otherwise. All amounts referred to in 
this Plan are stated in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated.  
  

The Committee shall, in its sole and absolute discretion: (i) interpret and administer the Plan; (ii) establish, amend and 
rescind any rules and regulations relating to the Plan; (iii) have the power to delegate, on such terms as the Committee deems 
appropriate, any or all of its powers hereunder to any officer of the Corporation, including without limitation the Chief Financial 
Officer or Secretary of the Corporation; and (iv) make any other determinations that the Committee deems necessary or desirable for 
the administration of the Plan. The Committee may correct any defect or supply any omission or reconcile any inconsistency in the 
Plan in the manner and to the extent the Committee deems, in its sole and absolute discretion, necessary or desirable. Any decision of 
the Committee with respect to the administration and interpretation of the Plan shall be conclusive and binding on the Eligible 
Director and any other person claiming an entitlement or benefit through the Eligible Director. All expenses of administration of the 
Plan shall be borne by the Corporation as determined by the Committee.  
  

The Plan shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario and the federal laws 
of Canada applicable therein.  
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1.3 Effective Date 

1.4 Eligibility 

1.5 Construction 

1.6 Administration 

1.7 Governing Law 



  

Subject to Section 2.2 and such rules, regulations, approvals and conditions as the Committee may impose, an Eligible 
Director may elect to receive his Annual Remuneration in the form of Deferred Share Units or cash or any combination thereof.  
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Section 2 Election Under the Plan 

2.1 Payment of Annual Remuneration 

2.2 Election Process 

 

(a) A person who is an Eligible Director on the effective date of the Plan may elect a form or forms of payment of Annual 
Remuneration payable for services provided after such effective date of the Plan by completing and delivering to the 
Secretary of the Corporation an initial Election Notice by no later than 30 days after the effective date of the Plan, which 
shall apply to the Eligible Director’s Annual Remuneration payable for services provided after the effective date of such 
election, subject to the provisions of Section 2.2(c). 

 

(b) An individual who becomes an Eligible Director during a year may elect the form or forms of payment of Annual 
Remuneration earned in Quarters that commence after the date the election is made by completing and delivering to the 
Secretary of the Corporation an Election Notice. An Election Notice shall not be effective to require that Annual 
Remuneration earned in the year in which the individual becomes an Eligible Director be provided in the form of 
Deferred Share Units if (i) such Election Notice is not completed and delivered to the Secretary of the Corporation within 
30 days after the individual becomes an Eligible Director; or (ii) the individual previously participated in this Plan or any 
other plan that is required to be aggregated with this Plan for purposes of Section 409A of the Code. 

 

(c) An Eligible Director who has made an election under Section 2.2(a) or 2.2(b), or who has never made any such election 
may elect the form or forms of payment of his Annual Remuneration for a subsequent fiscal year by completing and 
delivering to the Secretary of the Corporation a new Election Notice on or before December 31 immediately preceding 
the first day of such subsequent fiscal year. 

 

(d) The Committee may prescribe election forms for use by Eligible Directors who are residents of a jurisdiction other than 
Canada that differ from the election forms it prescribes for use by Canadian resident Eligible Directors where the 
Committee determines it is necessary or desirable to do so to obtain comparable treatment for the Plan, the Eligible 
Directors or the Corporation under the laws or regulatory policies of such other jurisdiction as is provided under the laws 
and regulatory policies of Canada and its Provinces, provided that no election form prescribed for use by a non-resident of 
Canada shall contain terms that would cause the Plan to cease to meet the requirements of paragraph 6801(d) of the 



  

  

2.3.1    Deferred Share Units elected by an Eligible Director pursuant to Section 2.2 shall be credited to the Eligible Director’s 
Account as of the applicable Conversion Date. The number of Deferred Share Units (including fractional Deferred Share Units) to be 
credited to an Eligible Director’s Account as of a particular Conversion Date pursuant to this Section 2.3.1 shall be determined by 
dividing the portion of that Eligible Director’s Annual Remuneration for the applicable period to be satisfied by Deferred Share Units 
by the Fair Market Value on the particular Conversion Date.  

2.3.2    In addition to Deferred Share Units granted pursuant to Section 2.3.1, the Board may award such number of Deferred Share 
Units to an Eligible Director as the Board deems advisable to provide the Eligible Director with appropriate equity-based 
compensation for the services he or she renders to the Corporation. The Board shall determine the date on which such Deferred Share 
Units may be granted and the date as of which such Deferred Share Units shall be credited to a Participant’s Deferred Share Unit 
Account, together with any terms or conditions with respect to the vesting of such Deferred Share Units. The Corporation and an 
Eligible Director who receives an award of Deferred Share Units pursuant to this Section 2.3.2 shall enter into a DSU Award 
Agreement to evidence the award and the terms, including terms with respect to vesting, applicable thereto. In the case of an Eligible 
Director who is a U.S. Taxpayer, where the Eligible Director is provided an election of determining the form of the equity based 
compensation that may be granted by the Board in its discretion, such election shall be made prior to the date on which the Board 
provides the Eligible Director with a legally binding right to the award (i.e., the date of grant of the award).  

2.3.3    Deferred Share Units credited to an Eligible Director’s Account under Section 2.3.1, together with any additional Deferred 
Share Units granted in respect thereof under Section 2.4, will be fully vested upon being credited to an Eligible Director’s Account 
and the Eligible Director’s entitlement to payment of such Deferred Share Units at his Termination Date shall not thereafter be subject 
to satisfaction of any requirements as to any minimum period of membership on the Board.  

2.3.4    Deferred Share Units credited to an Eligible Director’s Account under Section 2.3.2, together with any additional Deferred 
Share Units granted in respect thereof under Section 2.4, will vest in accordance with such terms and conditions as may be 
determined by the Board and set out in the DSU Award Agreement, provided that, in the case of an Eligible Director who is a U.S. 
Taxpayer and who has made an election as to the form of the equity based compensation that may be granted by the Board in its 
discretion, in accordance with Section 2.3.2, the Board  
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 regulations under the Income Tax Act (Canada) and any successor to such provisions. 

 
(e) For greater certainty, if the Corporation establishes a policy for members of the Board with respect to the acquisition and / 

or holding of Common Shares and / or DSUs, each Director shall ensure that any election he or she makes under this 
Section 2.2 complies with such policy. 

2.3 Deferred Share Units 



shall specify a vesting date that is no earlier than twelve months from the date such Deferred Share Units are granted, whereby the 
Eligible Director is required to continue to provide services during the twelve months following the date of grant.  
  

On any payment date for dividends paid on Common Shares, an Eligible Director shall be credited with dividend 
equivalents in respect of Deferred Share Units credited to the Eligible Director’s Account as of the record date for payment of 
dividends. Such dividend equivalents shall be converted into additional Deferred Share Units (including fractional Deferred Share 
Units) based on the Fair Market Value as of the date on which the dividends on the Common Shares are paid.  
  

An Eligible Director’s Account shall record at all times the number of Deferred Share Units standing to the credit of the 
Eligible Director. Upon payment or delivery of Common Shares in satisfaction of Deferred Share Units credited to an Eligible 
Director in the manner described herein, such Deferred Share Units shall be cancelled. A written confirmation of the balance in each 
Eligible Director’s Account shall be provided by the Corporation to the Eligible Director at least annually.  
  

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, in the event of any change in the Common Shares by reason of any 
stock dividend, split, recapitalization, reclassification, amalgamation, arrangement, merger, consolidation, combination or exchange 
of Common Shares or distribution of rights to holders of Common Shares or any other form of corporate reorganization whatsoever, 
an equitable adjustment shall be made to any Deferred Share Units then outstanding. Such adjustment shall be made by the 
Committee, subject to Applicable Law, shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes of the Plan.  
  

If a Take-over Bid is made, then, notwithstanding Section 2.3.2 and the terms of any DSU Award Agreement, but subject 
to the other provisions of the Plan, the following shall apply:  
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2.4 Dividends 

2.5 Eligible Director’s Account 

2.6 Adjustments and Reorganizations 

2.7 Take-over Bids 

 
(a) Unless otherwise determined by the Board any Deferred Share Units which are outstanding at the time that such Take-

over Bid is made and which have not already vested in accordance with the provisions of the Plan other than this 
Section 2.7 shall, subject to Section 2.7(b) and Section 2.3.4, become conditionally vested. 

 
(b) The vesting of Deferred Share Units under this Section 2.7 shall be conditional upon the completion of the Take-over Bid 

on or before the expiry of the Take-over Bid. 



  

  

Subject to Section 3.5 , an Eligible Director’s Entitlement Date shall be the date that is six months after his Termination 
Date and all vested Deferred Share Units credited to such Eligible Director’s Account on such date shall be redeemed in return for a 
cash payment or Common Shares bought on the open market in accordance with Section 3.3 during the period that commences on 
such Entitlement Date and ends on December 31 of the calendar year that includes such Entitlement Date.  
  

An Eligible Director, or the Beneficiary of an Eligible Director, as the case may be who redeems vested Deferred Share 
Units hereunder shall be entitled to receive:  
  

  

  

all as determined by the Committee. For greater certainty, no cash payments will be made and no Common Shares will be purchased 
in respect of an Deferred Share Units credited to an  
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(c) If, upon the expiry of the Take-over Bid, the Take-over Bid is not completed then, as of and from the expiry of the Take-
over Bid, the conditional vesting of any Deferred Share Units pursuant to this Section 2.7 shall lapse and such Deferred 
Share Units shall remain eligible to vest in accordance with the Plan and any DSU Award Agreement governing the 
award of such Deferred Share Units. For greater certainty, Deferred Share Units that would have vested in any event 
during the period between the time a Take-over Bid is made and the expiry of the Take-over Bid regardless of this 
Section 2.7, shall vest as of the applicable date of vesting determined pursuant to the provisions of the Plan other than this 
Section 2.7 and any applicable DSU Award Agreement irrespective of whether the Take-over Bid is completed. 

Section 3 Redemptions 

3.1 Redemption of Deferred Share Units 

3.2 Settlement of Deferred Share Units 

 
(a) Common Shares purchased by the Broker for the account of the Eligible Director or his or her Beneficiary, as applicable, 

in accordance with Section 3.3; 

 
(b) a cash payment to the Eligible Director or his or her Beneficiary, as applicable in an amount equal to the Fair Market 

Value of the Deferred Share Units that are being redeemed as of the Entitlement Date applicable to such Deferred Share 
Units, net of any applicable withholding taxes and other required source deductions, or 

 

(c) a combination of Common Shares purchased by the Broker in accordance with Section 3.3 and cash, with an aggregate 
value equal to the Fair Market Value of the Deferred Share Units that are being redeemed as of the Entitlement Date 
applicable to such Deferred Share Units after taking into account brokerage commissions and other reasonable acquisition 
costs in respect of the Common Shares and net of any applicable withholding taxes and other required source deductions, 



Eligible Director’s Account that have not vested in accordance with the terms of the Plan and any applicable agreement under 
Section 2.3.2 on or before the Eligible Director’s Termination Date.  
  

3.3.1    Where the Committee determines that all or a portion of an Eligible Director’s Deferred Share Units will be redeemed for 
Common Shares such Common Shares shall be purchased by the Broker on the Toronto Stock Exchange, NASDAQ or any other 
stock exchange approved by the Committee.  

3.3.2    The Corporation shall notify the Broker as to the number of whole Common Shares to be purchased by the Broker on behalf 
of the Eligible Director (or the Beneficiary of an Eligible Director) on the basis of one Common Share for each Deferred Share Unit 
to be redeemed for Common Shares, subject to an adjustment in the number of Common Shares on account of applicable taxes and 
other source deductions in accordance with Section 4.11 and provided that the number of Common Shares to be purchased will be 
rounded down to the nearest whole number and no payment will be made in respect of any fractional Deferred Share Units or 
Common Shares. As soon as practicable thereafter, the Broker shall purchase on the applicable stock exchange the number of 
Common Shares specified in the notice from the Corporation and shall advise the Eligible Director, or the Eligible Director’s 
Beneficiary, as applicable, and the Corporation of:  
  

  

  

  

3.3.3    On the settlement date in respect of the Common Shares purchased hereunder, upon payment of the aggregate purchase price 
and related brokerage commission by the Corporation on behalf of the Eligible Director, the Broker shall deliver to the Eligible 
Director, or to his designated representative, the certificate representing the Common Shares purchased on behalf of such Eligible 
Director or shall cause such Common Shares to be transferred electronically to an account designated by such Eligible Director.  

3.3.4    Upon designation of a Broker or at any time thereafter, the Corporation may elect to provide the designated Broker with a 
letter agreement to be executed by the Broker, the Eligible Director and the Corporation, setting forth, inter alia:  
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3.3 Purchase of Shares on the Open Market 

 i. the aggregate purchase price of the Common Shares; 

 
ii. the purchase price per share or, if the Common Shares were purchased at different prices, the average purchase 

price (computed on a weighted average basis) per share); 

 iii. the amount of any related brokerage commission; and 

 iv. the settlement date for the purchase of the Common Shares. 

 
i. the Broker’s agreement with being so designated, to acting for the Eligible Director’s account in accordance 

with customary usage of the trade with a view to obtaining the best share price for the  



  

provided, however, that none of the terms of such letter agreement shall have the effect of making the Broker or deeming the Broker 
to be an affiliate of, or not independent from, the Corporation for purposes of any applicable corporate, securities requirement or 
under Stock Exchange Rules.  
  

In the event that at the time contemplated for the purchase of Common Shares or payment in cash under Section 3.2 there is no public 
market for the Common Shares the obligations of the Corporation or any Affiliate with respect to such Eligible Director’s Deferred 
Share Units shall be met by a payment in cash in such amount as is reasonably determined by the Committee to be equitable in the 
circumstances based on the value of the Common Shares at the time of payment, such determination to be final and binding for all 
purposes.  
  

In the event that the Committee is unable, by an Eligible Director’s Entitlement Date, to compute the final value of the 
Deferred Share Units recorded in such Eligible Director’s Account by reason of the fact that any data required in order to compute the 
market value of a Share has not been made available to the Committee and such delay is not caused by the Eligible Director, then the 
Entitlement Date shall be the next following trading day on which such data is made available to the Committee.  
  

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, all amounts payable to, or in respect of, an Eligible Director hereunder 
shall be paid on or before December 31 of the calendar year commencing immediately after the Eligible Director’s Termination Date. 
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Eligible Director in respect of the Common Shares to be purchased for the Eligible Director, and to delivering 
to the Eligible Director, or his or her representative, the share certificate for, or to transferring electronically to 
an account designated by the Eligible Director, the Common Shares purchased upon receipt from the 
Corporation of payment of the aggregate purchase price and related reasonable brokerage commission; and 

 
ii. the Corporation’s agreement to notify the Broker of the number of Common Shares to be purchased and to pay 

the Aggregate Purchase Price and the related reasonable brokerage commission, 

3.4 Payments in Cash Where No Market for Common Shares 

3.5 Extended Entitlement Date 

3.6 Limitation on Extension of Entitlement Date 



  

Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, the Plan shall be unfunded. To the extent any individual holds any rights 
by virtue of an election under the Plan, such rights (unless otherwise determined by the Committee) shall be no greater than the rights 
of an unsecured general creditor of the Corporation.  
  

The Plan shall be binding on all successors and permitted assigns of the Corporation and an Eligible Director, including 
without limitation, the estate of such Eligible Director and the legal representative of such estate, or any receiver or trustee in 
bankruptcy or representative of the Corporation’s or the Eligible Director’s creditors.  
  

4.3.1    The Board may amend the Plan as it deems necessary or appropriate, but no such amendment shall, without the consent of the 
Eligible Director or unless required by law, adversely affect the rights of an Eligible Director with respect to any amount of Annual 
Remuneration in respect of which an Eligible Director has then elected to receive Deferred Share Units or Deferred Share Units 
which the Eligible Director has then been granted under the Plan.  

4.3.2    Notwithstanding Section 4.3.1, any amendment of the Plan shall be such that the Plan continuously meets the requirements of 
paragraph 6801(d) of the regulations under the Income Tax Act (Canada) or any successor to such provision and the requirements of 
Section 409A of the Code, as may apply to Eligible Directors who are U.S. Taxpayers. For avoidance of doubt, and notwithstanding 
Section 4.3.1, if any provision of the Plan contravenes any regulations or U.S. Treasury guidance promulgated under Section 409A of 
the Code or would cause the Deferred Share Units to be subject to the interest and penalties under Section 409A of the Code, such 
provision of the Plan shall, to the extent that it applies to U.S. Taxpayers, be modified, without the consent of any Eligible Director, to 
maintain, to the maximum extent practicable, the original intent of the applicable provision without violating the provisions of 
Section 409A of the Code.  
  

The Board may terminate the Plan at any time but no such termination shall, without the consent of the Eligible Director 
or unless required by law, adversely affect the rights of an Eligible Director with respect to any amount of Annual Remuneration in 
respect of which an Eligible Director has then elected to receive Deferred Share Units or Deferred Share Units which the Eligible 
Director has then been granted under the Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any termination of the Plan shall be such that the Plan 
continuously meets the requirements of paragraph 6801(d) of the regulations under the Income Tax Act (Canada) or any successor to  
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Section 4 General 

4.1 Unfunded Plan 

4.2 Successors and Assigns 

4.3 Plan Amendment 

4.4 Plan Termination 



such provision and the requirements of Section 409A of the Code as may apply to Eligible Directors who are U.S. Taxpayers. 
  

The Committee and each Eligible Director will ensure that all actions taken and decisions made by the Committee or an 
Eligible Director, as the case may be, pursuant to the Plan, comply with applicable securities regulations and policies of the 
Corporation relating to insider trading and “black out” periods. All Deferred Share Units shall be considered a “security” of the 
Corporation solely for reporting purposes under the insider trading policy of the Corporation.  
  

All payments and benefits under the Plan shall be determined and paid in the lawful currency of the United States or 
Canada, as determined by the Committee.  
  

Subject to the requirements of Applicable Law, an Eligible Director may designate in writing a person who is a dependant 
or relation of the Eligible Director as a beneficiary to receive any benefits that are payable under the Plan upon the death of such 
Eligible Director. The Eligible Director may, subject to Applicable Law, change such designation from time to time. Such designation 
or change shall be in the form of Schedule C. The initial designation of each Eligible Director shall be executed and filed with the 
Secretary of the Corporation within sixty (60) days following the Effective Date of the Plan. Changes to such designation may be 
filed from time to time thereafter.  
  

In the event of an Eligible Director’s death, any and all Deferred Share Units then credited to the Eligible Director’s 
Account shall become payable to the Eligible Director’s Beneficiary in accordance with Section 3 and the date of death shall be 
deemed to be the Termination Date.  
  

4.9.1    Except as specifically set out in the Plan, no Eligible Director, or any other person shall have any claim or right to any benefit 
in respect of Deferred Share Units granted or Annual Remuneration payable pursuant to the Plan.  

4.9.2    Rights of Eligible Directors respecting Deferred Share Units and other benefits under the Plan shall not be transferable or 
assignable other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution.  

4.9.3    The Plan shall not be construed as granting an Eligible Director a right to be retained as a member of the Board or a claim or 
right to any future grants of Deferred Share Units, future Annual Remuneration or other benefits under the Plan.  
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4.5 Applicable Trading Policies and Reporting Requirements 

4.6 Currency 

4.7 Designation of Beneficiary 

4.8 Death of Eligible Director 

4.9 Rights of Eligible Directors 



4.9.4    Under no circumstances shall Deferred Share Units be considered Common Shares nor shall they entitle any Eligible Director 
or other person to exercise voting rights or any other rights attaching to the ownership of Common Shares.  
  

Any obligation of the Corporation pursuant to the terms of the Plan is subject to compliance with Applicable Law. The 
Eligible Directors shall comply with Applicable Law and furnish the Corporation with any and all information and undertakings as 
may be required to ensure compliance therewith.  
  

For greater certainty, and without derogation from any rights the Corporation may have with respect to the withholding of 
taxes, source deductions or other amounts pursuant to Applicable Law, the Corporation shall be entitled to deduct any amount of 
withholding taxes and other withholdings from any amount paid or credited hereunder for purposes of compliance or intended 
compliance with Applicable Law.  
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4.10 Compliance with Law 

4.11 Withholding 



SCHEDULE A  

Deferred Share Unit Plan for Eligible Directors of  
Open Text Corporation (the “Plan”)  

ELECTION NOTICE  
  

Subject to Part II of this Notice, for the period          to         , I hereby elect to receive the following percentage of Annual 
Remuneration by way of Deferred Share Units (“DSUs”):  

  

*cash payments will be made quarterly in arrears  
  

I confirm and acknowledge that:  
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

I. Election: 

 
  

Amount 
    

Percentage in DSUs
    

Percentage in Cash*
  

Annual Remuneration 
    

$ 
    

      %
    

      % 
  

II. Acknowledgement 

 1. I have received and reviewed a copy of the terms of the Plan and agree to be bound by them. 

 
2. I will not be able to cause the Corporation or any Affiliate thereof to redeem DSUs granted under the Plan until the date 

specified in the Plan following my Termination Date. 

 
3. When DSUs credited to my account pursuant to this election are redeemed in accordance with the terms of the Plan after 

my Termination Date, income tax and other withholdings as required will arise at that time. Upon redemption of the DSUs, 
the Corporation will make all appropriate withholdings as required by law at that time. 

 4. The value of DSUs are based on the value of the Common Shares of the Corporation and therefore are not guaranteed. 

 
5. No funds will be set aside to guarantee the payment of DSUs. Future payment of DSUs will remain an unfunded and 

unsecured liability recorded on the books of the Corporation. 

 6. This election is irrevocable. 

 
7. The foregoing is only a brief outline of certain key provisions of the Plan. In the event of any discrepancy between the 

terms of the Plan and the terms of this Election Notice, the terms of the Plan shall prevail. All capitalized expressions used 
herein shall have the same meaning as in the Plan unless otherwise defined herein. 
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Date   (Name of Eligible Director)

  
 

  (Signature of Eligible Director)



Schedule B  

Open Text Corporation Directors’ Deferred Share Unit Plan (the “Plan”)  

DSU AWARD AGREEMENT  
  

This Agreement is entered into between Open Text Corporation (the “Corporation”) and the director named below (the “Eligible 
Director”) pursuant to Section 2.3.2 of the Plan and confirms that effective •, 200     (the “Effective Date”)              [number] 
Deferred Share Units (“DSUs”) have been granted by the Corporation to the Eligible Director on the terms set out in this 
Agreement and the Plan.  

  

All DSUs referred to in Part I above, together with any additional DSUs credited to the Eligible Directors’ Account pursuant to 
Section 2.4 of the Plan in respect of such DSUs shall vest on the date of the Corporation’s first Annual General Meeting 
following the Effective Date. DSUs that fail to vest in accordance with this Part II shall be forfeited without any payment or 
other compensation therefor.  

  

The Eligible Director confirms and acknowledges that:  
  

  

  

  

I. Agreement and Grant 

II. Vesting 

III. Acknowledgement 

 1. He/she has received and reviewed a copy of the terms of the Plan and this Agreement and agrees to be bound by them. 

 2. Only DSUs that vest in accordance with Part II above may be redeemed by the Eligible Director or his/her Beneficiary. 

 
3. He/she will not be able to cause the Corporation or any Affiliate thereof to redeem DSUs referred to in Part I above or any 

additional DSUs credited to the Eligible Director’s Account pursuant to Section 2.4 of the Plan in respect of such DSUs 
until the date specified in the Plan following his/her Termination Date. 

 

4. When DSUs referred to in Part I above and additional DSUs credited to the Eligible Director’s Account pursuant to this 
election are redeemed in accordance with the terms of the Plan after he/she is no longer either a director or employee of the 
Corporation or any Affiliate thereof, income tax and other withholdings as required will arise at that time. Upon 
redemption of the DSUs, the Corporation will make all appropriate withholdings as required by law at that time. 



  

  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Corporation and Eligible Director have executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date.  
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 5. The value of DSUs are based on the value of the common shares of the Corporation and therefore are not guaranteed. 

 
6. No funds will be set aside to guarantee the payment of DSUs. Future payment of DSUs will remain an unfunded liability 

recorded on the books of the Corporation. 

 
7. In the event of any discrepancy between the terms of the Plan and the terms of this Agreement, the terms of the Plan shall 

prevail. All capitalized expressions used herein shall have the same meaning as in the Plan unless otherwise specified 
herein. 

By:  

 (Signature of Eligible Director)

 
 

 (Name of Eligible Director)

 OPEN TEXT CORPORATION

By:  

By:   



SCHEDULE C  

BENEFICIARY DESIGNATION  

To:    Open Text Corporation  

I,                     , being an Eligible Director in the Open Text Corporation Directors’ Deferred Share Unit Plan (the “Plan”) hereby 
designate the following person as my Beneficiary for purposes of the Plan:  
  

This designation revokes any previous beneficiary designation made by me under the Plan. Under the terms of the Plan, I reserve the 
right to revoke this designation and to designate another person as my Beneficiary.  
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Name of Beneficiary:   

Address of Beneficiary:   

 
 

Date:    

Name:    (please print)

Signature:    



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, John Shackleton, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Open Text Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board
of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

By: /s/ JOHN SHACKLETON

John Shackleton
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: April, 30, 2010



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Paul McFeeters, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Open Text Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board
of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

By: /s/ PAUL MCFEETERS

Paul McFeeters
Chief Financial Officer

Date: April 30, 2010



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED

PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Open Text Corporation (the “Company”) for the
quarter ended March 31, 2010 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
“Report”), I, John Shackleton, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. (S) 1350, as adopted pursuant to (S) 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ JOHN SHACKLETON

John Shackleton
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: April 30, 2010



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED

PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Open Text Corporation (the “Company”) for the
quarter ended March 31, 2010 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
“Report”), I, Paul McFeeters, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. (S) 1350, as
adopted pursuant to (S) 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ PAUL MCFEETERS

Paul McFeeters
Chief Financial Officer

Date: April 30, 2010
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